AURORA TOWN PUBLIC LIBRARY
550 Main Street, East Aurora, New York 14052
Agenda of the Board
Regular Monthly Meeting
December 14, 2021, 1:00 p.m.

1. Comments from the audience

2. Minutes of the Meetings: November 16, 2021

3. Treasurer’s Report: Monthly Financial Statements & Internal Auditor Report: November 2021
4. Director’s Report: November 2021

5. Reports of Interest

a. The FY-2022 Erie County Budget as proposed by County Executive, Mark Poloncarz, has been
approved by the Legislature. There were not any changes to the Library System’s submitted
budget, which recommended a funding increase of $518,347 (2.0%).

b. ATPL patrons turned in 275 hardcopy letters (not including electronic submissions) to Legislator
Lorigo in support of the proposed 2022 Erie County Budget.

c. The Baubles & Bling Friends of the Library Fundraiser Sale raised $2,042.17 and the raffle raised
$560.00 for a total of $2,602.17.

d. November 22-December 23, 2021, the commumty is welcomed to select an ornament from the
ROC Squad holiday tree to purchase a toy from an Amazon registry at ATPL. ROC will
distribute the gifts to children in need.

e. Other

6. Personnel
a. Payroll Report: Pay Period 24
b. Board May Enter Executive Session
c. Other ‘

7. Old Business
a. Schedule of Library Board Meetings
b. Other

8. New Business

“System Paid” Budget (as of 9/30/21)

Review Schedule for Board Adopted Policies

Resolution for Contract Library Boards of Trustees Personnel Policies and Procedures
Total Patrons Listing ATPL As Their Home Library By Zip Code

Internal Auditor

Other

e Ao o

Next regularly scheduled meeting: January 25, 2022 at 1:00 p.m.



-’

AURORA TOWN PUBLIC LIBRARY
550 Main Street, East Aurora, New York 14052
Minutes
‘Board of Trustees
Regular Monthly Meeting
November 16, 2021, 1:00 p.m.

Present: Alice Askew, Martha Buyer, Kara Spencer-Ching, Richard Wiesen, Paula Klocek, Director—
Elaine Chow joined the meeting remotely at 1:15 p.m.

President Alice Askew called the meeting to order at 12:59 p.m.

1.

2.

Adam Zaremski was in the audience.

A motion (MB, KSC) to approve the minutes, as amended, of the meeting of October 26, 2021 carried
by a voice vote.

A motion (MB, AA) to approve the Treasurer’s Report, October 2021 Financial Statements, and the
Internal Auditor Report carried by a voice vote. We are grateful for the several memorial gifts in
memory of Mary Flickinger, which have added new, wonderful books to the collection.

Director’s Report: October 2021

Circulation and patron traffic continues to improve although YTD comparisons with 2020 are not
beneficial. Wif-Fi use is significantly higher. In comparison to the 37 other contract libraries, ATPL
stands 12™ in circulation and 13" in patron count YTD, despite being much smaller than many of the
others ahead of ATPL in the ranking. The Trick-or-Read Storywalk was quite popular with 189
participants, children and adults. Each registered child received a free book. A motion (KSC, MB) to
approve the Director’s Report carried by a voice vote.

Reports of Interest _

a. The Friends made $4,005.30 (before taxes) at their Annual Book Sale. They will be having a
separate Specials Sale Thursday, April 7 through Saturday, April 9, 2022. The Friends Ongoing
Book Sale continues to bring in valuable revenue for programming. The YTD total is $1,050.00.
Publicity will be sent to the local newspaper, highlighting the sale rack for the holidays.

b. Thanks to Congressman Brian Higgins (NY-26) B&ECPL received $17,816.00 in American
Rescue Plan grant funding to support the loan of Chromebooks and hotspots. ATPL will not
benefit from the award this year, but there is hope for next year.

c. A total of 226 letters have been received supporting the recommended 2022 Erie County Budget
increase for B&ECPL system. The budget has yet to be approved by the County Legislature.

6. Personnel

a. No Payroll Report was available at this time.
b. The Board did not enter into Executive Session

7. Old Business
a. The Director reports that patrons have very positive reviews of the new arts and crafts style
tables and chairs purchased under the Program Equipment & Facility Improvement Initiative.
ATPL has yet to receive the charging stations that were ordered as part of the program.
There is an expectation that the interior LED lighting project will take place early in 2022.



8. New Business
a. Adam Zaremski was asked if he were interested in serving as a Trustee. The Board requesteti‘ﬁ')
him to submit a resume to the President as soon as it is convenient.

b. The Director explained a new idea to increase circulation. She distributed examples of forms
that will allow ATPL patrons and staff recommend selections of books to read. This strategy
mimics a practice that happens in book stores and other business to catch the eye of
customers to particular products. She was commended for the initiative.

c. The Director distributed a draft Schedule of Library Board MeetmLs for 2022. A motion

(RW, MB) to approve the draft schedule carried in a voice vote. |

A motion (RW, KSC) to adjourn the meeting was carried by a voice vote. President Alice Askew adjourned the
meetihg at 1:40 p.m. The next regularly scheduled meeting: December 14, 2021 at 1; 00 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Richard Wiesen.
Secretary




AURORA TOWN PUBLIC LIBRARY Treasurer's Report 30-Nov-21

LOCAL CHECKING ACCOUNT

Beginning Balance: 1-Nov-21 $33,397.50
“ Plus Receipts/Deposits Total: $1,509.81

Less Checks/Debits Total: $1,260.43

Ending Balance: 30-Nov-21 $33,646.88

Transaction Details

Receipts:

Friends I/M of Mary Flickinger $100.00

Anonymous Donation $100.00

Friends I/M of Mary Flickinger $50.00

Friends Ongoing Book Sale November $169.00

“"  Contingency Funds

Counted On 11/15/2021

YTD $1206.00
Total $574.45

Mary A. Whitford Donation $100.00
Alice Askew Donation $200.00
Alice Askew Donation $200.00
Friends Reimbursement for 2 Task chairs & Letter Board $751.23
Amazon Smile Donation $8.58
Total: $1,509.81
DISBURSEMENTS:
Scholastic Inc. Education (Children's Program Materials-FRIENDS) $509.20
DEMCO (Task Chairs and Sign Board-FRIENDS) $751.23
Total: $1,260.43
Savings Account
Balance Forward 1-Nov-21 $50,592.85
Interest Earned: $0.83
"« Balance 30-Nov-21 $50,593.68
Volker Funds
Balance Forward 1-Nov-21 $2,132.25
Receipts: None S0.00
Disbursements: None $0.00
Balance 30-Nov-21 $2,132.25
Gallivan Funds
Balance Forward 1-Nov-21 $0.00
Receipts: None $0.00
Disbursements: None $S0.00
Balance 30-Nov-21 $0.00
Facility Improvements
Balance Forward 1-Nov-21 $7,088.00
Receipts: None $0.00
Disbursements: None $0.00
Balance 30-Nov-21 $7,088.00
Internal Auditor's Report Richard Wiesen
Voucher# Amount Approved Check # Reason
L72 $509.20 12/1/2021 1028 Scholastic Inc. Education (Children's Books-FRIENDS)
L73 $751.23 12/1/2021 1029 DEMCO (Task Chairs & Letter Board Sign-FRIENDS)



CONTRACT MEMBER LIBRARIES - Monthly Financial Report

LIBRARY: AURORA TOWN PUBLIC LIBRARY MONTH: NOV
Projected Projected
Adopted Budget Year-to-Date Available Utilization  Variance
SAP Acct. Description Budget Transfers Expenditures Budget at 12/31 at 12/31 Comments
500000 Salaries - Full-time 0 0 0 0 0
502000 Fringe Benefits 0 0 0 0 0
Utility Charges:
515000 Water 550 0 271 279 550 0
515000 Sewer 850 38 888 0 888 0
515000 Telephone - Maintenance 0 264 264 (0) 264 0 Rel Comm
510200 Dues and Fees 20 0 20 0 20 0
510200 Professional Services 0 435 435 0 435 0 All American Security
545000 Rental Charges 0 0 0 0 0
506200 Repairs & Maintenance Chgs. 2,100 (447) 1,734 (81) 1,734 (81)
555050 Insurance Charges 0 0 0 0 0
510000 Travel & Mileage Expenses 400 (290) 112 (2) 112 (2)
530000 Other Expenses & Charges 600 0 500 100 600 0
530000 Contingency (Bullet Aid) 0 2,120 2,120 0 0 2,120 Bullet Aid - In Local
TOTAL EXPENSES 4,520 2,120 6,344 296 4,603 2,037
Adopted Budget Y-T-D To Be Projected Projected
DIRECT LOCAL INCOME Budget Revisions Revenues Realized Revenues Variance Comments
Fines, Lost Books, etc. 11,490 0 5,486 6,004 5,985 (5,505)
Copy Machines 606 0 384 222 418 (188)
Print Cost Recovery 2,333 0 1,530 803 1,669 (664)
Other Income 304 0 0 304 0 (304) Recording Under Fines, Lost
State Funding 0 0 0 0 0
Municipal Support 0 0 0 0 0
Donations (priv. persons/foundations) 0 0 0 0 0
Fundraising (events/booksales) 0 0 0 0 0
Interest Income 0 0 0 0 0
Misc Income 0 2,120 0 2,120 (2,120) Bullet Aid - In Local
Use of Fund Balance 0 0 0 0 0
TOTAL DIRECT INCOME 14,733 2,120 7,400 9,453 8,072 (8,781)

Aurora County Ledger 2021NOVCORRECTED

MONTHLY FINANCIAL STMT




AURORA TOWN PUBLIC LIBRARY COUNTY LEDGER

COUNTY CHECKING ACCOUNT 30-Nov-21
Beginning Balance: 1-Nov-21 $10,257.06
Plus Receipts/Deposits Total: $712.99
Less Checks/Debits Total: $690.48
Ending Balance: 30-Nov-21 $10,279.57

Transaction Details

Receipts:

Fines $270.85

Fines $420.24

Copier $21.90
Total: $712.99

Disbursements:

Dennis Desmond (Reimbursement for Janitorial Supplies) $329.22

Dennis Desmond (Travel) $14.45

Julia Gelsomino (Travel) $16.59

Julia Gelsomino (Program Reimbursement) $4.00

All American Security, Inc. (Panic Button & Install) $150.00

Fun Express (Program materials) $106.02

Allied 100 (Pediatric Electrode for AED) $70.20
Total: $690.48

Internal Auditor's Report Richard Wiesen, Internal Auditor

Voucherf Amount Approved Check# Reason

c87 $329.22 11/4/2021 5845 Dennis Desmond (Reimbursement for Janitorial Supplies)

css $14.45  11/4/2021 5846 Dennis Desmond (Travel)

C89 $16.59 11/16/2021 5847 Julia Gelsomino (Travel)

C90 $4.00 11/16/2021 5848 Julia Gelsomino (Program reimbursement)

Ca1 $150.00 12/1/2021 ' 5849 All American Security, Inc. (Panic Button replacement and install)

92 $106.02 12/1/2021 5850 Fun Express (Program Materials)

€93 $70.20 12/1/2021 5851 Allied 100 (Pediatric Electrode for AED)



AURORA TOWN PUBLIC LIBRARY

550 MAIN STREET

EAST AURORA, NEW YORK 14052
716-652-4440/fax 716-655-5875

DIRECTOR’S REPORT
November 2021

CIRCULATION | Total-month | Average/day Average/hr YTD Total
2021 7,534* 313.9 39.7 : 77,488**
2020 6,197 326.2 43.3 68,958
2019 10,423 453.2 52.9 131,951
2018 11,699 487.5 56.8 146,483
2017 12,425 517.7 73.1 153,544

82.9%* (6,248) via self-checkout
72.3%** (55,992) via self-checkout YTD

Note: Circulation for the contracting libraries is 7.6% this month (EAU was at 21.6%) and 21.1%

YTD (EAU is at 12.4%).

Library of Things 2021

Monthly 5

Year-to-date 35

SYSTEM e-BRANCH Month | Month | Change | YTD YTD - Change
2021 | 2020 2021 2020

Online Renewals 77,228 170,135 |10.1% 854,599 | 681,773 | 25.3%

Interlibrary Loans 1,008 | 884 14.0% 11,731 7,242 62.0%

D-Loadable Audio Books | 39,474 | 32,825 |20.3% 428,203 | 362,067 | 18.3%

D-loadable Streaming 86 33 160.6% | 1,102 482 128.6%

Videos

eBooks 70,070 | 70,783 | -1.0% 839,518 | 801,233. | 4.8%

Downloadable 22,869 | 27,747 |-17.6% |263,914 | 305,702 | -13.7%

Music/Music Videos

Year 2021 | 2020 2019 2018 - 2017

DAYS/HOURS OPEN | 24/190 | 19/143 23/197 24/206 24/170

COMPUTER USE | 2021 2020 % Change

Monthly 328 169 94.1%

Year-to-date 2,831 3,285 -13.8%

Note: Computer use for the contracting libraries is 49.5% this month and 7.4% YTD.

WIFI USE 2021 2020 % Change
Monthly 1,964 773 154.1%
Year-to-date 17,897 9,284 92.8%

Note: Wifi use for the contracting libraries is 87.3% this month and 64.3% YTD.




AURORA TOWN PUBLIC LIBRARY
550 MAIN STREET
EAST AURORA, NEW YORK 14052
716-652-4440/fax 716-655-5875

DIRECTOR’S REPORT
November 2021

NEW LIBRARY CARD MEMBERSHIP | Total-month YTD
Adults 11 267
Children 10 136
Patron Counter 2021 2020 % Change
Monthly 4,511 2,755 63.7%
Year-to-date 41,088 34,543 18.9%

Note: Door counts for the contracting libraries were 35.2% this month and 22.4% YTD.

YTD

Friends Ongoing Book Sale Month
Dollar Amount $169.00 $1219.00
Programs Name / Number of Sessions / Age Attendance | Stat Category
Sponsor Group 1
Thanksgiving Parade (Friends) 6-12 15 In Library Group
Read-To-A-Dog (SPCA) (6) All 12 In Library Group
Fall Reading Club (Friends) 6-12 8 In Library Group
Lego Club (Friends) 6-12 11 In Library Group
College Application Process Teens & | 7 In Library Group
Parents |
Alopecia Support Group Meeting All 3 In Lill?rary Group
Rob Goller: Town Historian: Becoming Adult |23 In Library Group
Your Own Historian (Friends)
“L” is for Library (12) 0-2% 12 Self-Directed
Story Time — To Go (40) (Friends) 3-5 40 Self-Directed
Unwind & Design: Gratitude Journal (25) Adult 25 Self-Directed
(Friends)
Create-a-Card (Friends) (12) Adult 12 Self-Directed
Read Down Your Fines (0) 0-5 0 min In Library Group
Read Down Your Fines (1) 6-12 215 min In Library Group
Read Down Your Fines (0) 13-16 0 min In Library Group
Tutor (4) 0-12 4 One-on-One
Tutor (0) 13-16 0 One-on-One

Display Case: Holland Tuesday Painters Art Display

Community Room Exhibits: Holland Tuesday Painters Art Show




AURORA TOWN PUBLIC LIBRARY
550 MAIN STREET
EAST AURORA, NEW YORK 14052
716-652-4440/fax 716-655-5875

DIRECTOR’S REPORT
November 2021
Building condition: Waiting for National Fuel to repair gas line and replace parking lot exit
apron.

Meeting Room Uses: 7

Professional Development
Director’s Meeting-11/10/21, B&ECPL
Phished Round 1-11/16/21, Phish Insight

Programs: December 2021

Aé&lts—l—‘FI-—Deeember—Z—@-é%O—p-m—Postponed

DS Education Presents: College Application Process - Teens and their Parents - November 15 @
6:30 p.m. - RSVP to Betsy DelleBovi: email betsyroger@dseducationservices.com or call (716)
480-7628

Snow Gnomes - Children, 6-12 - December 2 @ 4:00 p.m.

K-3 Story Time: Elf Academy - Grades K-3 - December 7 @ 4:00 p.m.

LEGO Club - Children, 6-12 - December 9 @ 4:00 p.m. **Sorry Program is Full**

Read to a Dog - Children, All Ages - December 11 @ 3:30 p.m., 3:50 p.m., 4:10 p.m.

Unwind & Design: Embroidered Paper Snowflakes - Adults, 17+ December 14 - Participants
will be called to pick-up their take-home kit the week of the program.

Create-a-Card Club - Adults, 17+ - Weeks of 9/16, 10/21, 11/18, 12/16—Participants will be
called to pick-up their kit the week of the program. **Sorry Program is Full**

Story Time - To Go - Children, 3 - 5 - Wednesday, December 1 & December 15 - Participants
will be called to pick-up their take-home kit the week of the program. **Sorry Program is
Full**

Fall Reading Club - Kids, 6 - 12 - Wednesday December 8 @ 3:45pm - In person program.
LEGO Club - Children, 6-12 - 9/23, 10/14, 11/18, 12/18 @ 4:00 p.m. **Sorry Program is Full**
Create-a-Card Club To-Go Kit - Adults, 17+ - Weeks of 9/16, 10/21, 11/18, 12/16 - Participants
will be called to pick-up their kit the week of the program. **Sorry Program is Full**

Programs: January 2021

Aurora Book Club - Adults, 17+ - January 6 @ 6:30 p.m.

Unwind & Design To-Go Kit: Marbled Paper - Adults, 17+ - January 11 - Participants will be
called to pick-up their take-home kit the week of the program.

Let It Snow! — Wall Hanging - Children, 6-12 - January 13 @ 4:00 p.m.

Create-a-Card Club - Adults, 17+ - 1/20, 2/17, 3/17, 4/7 - Participants will be called to pick-up
their kit the week of the program.

LEGO Club — Children, 6-12 - 1/20, 2/17, 3/17, 4/7, 5/12 @ 4:00 p.m.



ATPL Months at a Glance: 2022

Month of Circulation Patron Computer Wi-Fi -
2022 Count Use

January 4,688 2,009 120 1,187
February 6,481 2,670 184 1,231
March 7,364 3,540 250 1,492
April 7,031 3,512 232 1,486
May 7,049 3,158 249 1,655
June 6,803 4,220 260 1,678
July 8,091 €1 4,512 €2 308€3 1,785
August 7,709 €2 4,273 320 €2 1,711
September 7,407 4,113 297 1,777 €3
October 7,334 4,570 €1 283 1,931 €2
November 7,534 €3 4,511 €3 328 €1 1,964 €1
December TBD TBD TBD TBD




2021 Aurora sayroll Report_PP24

As of Pay Period 24
S S e PERSONNE IR ey £ PT PERSONNEL
Title YTD Expensed Remaining Title YTD Expensed Budgeted Remaining
Librarian | 56,725.74 59,514.00 2,788.26 Caretaker PT 12,629.29 13,476.00 846.71
Library Director | 51,693.46 54,042.00 2,348.54 Cleaner PT 6,852.90 9,309.00 2,456.10
Senior Library Clerk 35,957.54 39,140.00 3,182.46 Clerk Typist PT 15,601.17 27,956.00 12,354.83
Librarian | PT 20,992.96 26,880.00 5,887.04
Page PT 9,348.84 15,600.00 6,251.16
Senior Page 28,910.01 56,446.00 27,535.99
PT Totals 94,335.17 149,667.00 55,331.83
TOTAL COMBINED ANNUAL BUDGET $ 306,148.00
YTD Expensed Budgeted Remaining PROJECTED ANNUAL BUDGET SPENT $ 259,428.46
Caretaker PT 12,629.29 13,476.00 846.71 PROJECTED ENDING BALANCE $ 46,719.54
Cleaner 6,852.90 9,309.00 2,456.10
Clerk Typists 15,601.17 27,956.00 12,354.83
Librarian I'S 77,718.70 86,394.00 8,675.30
Library Director | 51,693.46 54,042.00 2,348.54
Senior Library Clerk 35,957.54 39,140.00 3,182.46
Pages 9,348.84 15,600.00 6,251.16
Senior Pages 28,910.01 56,446.00 27,535.99
3,785.00 3,785.00
Combined Totals 238,711.91 306,148.00 67,436.09

2021 Aurora Payroll Report_PP24 : 2021 Salary Budget Summary



Buffalo & Erie County Public

®LIBRARY

Aurora Town Public Library
550 Main Street
East Aurora, NY 14052
(716) 652-4440 FAX (716) 655-5875

SCHEDULE OF MEETINGS
OF THE LIBRARY BOARD

2022

All dates are Tuesdays, unless otherwise noted:
January 25
February 22
March 22
pril 26 (Includes annual meeting) @ 12:30pm
May 24
June 28
September 27
October 25
November 15
December 13
All meetings (unless otherwise noted) are scheduled for 1pm at the Library at 550 Main Street.

Meeting schedule is subject to change should emergencies arise, or if quorum will not be present.
Please call the Library to verify meeting dates.

The East Aurora Advertiser is the newspaper of record and will receive notice of all meetings.

-

Aurora Town Public Library e 550 Main Street o East Aurora, NY ¢ 14052 ¢ www.BuffaloLib.org ERGH P



Contract Library "System Paid" Budget Analysis

Aurora Town Public Library

As of 9/30/2021
[ "System
Paid" Jan-Jun Actual 2021 YTD | 2021 Year End ([Projected Year End
Budget* 2021 July August September Expenses Projection Surplus/(Shortfall)
Salaries & Wages, Full Time
Salaries & Wages, Full Time 152,696.00 | 75,569.47 | 12,870.85| 12,870.89 | 12,870.91 114,182.12 153,372.28 (676.28)
Other Payments 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Overtime 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Total Salaries & Wages, Full Time 152,696.00 | 75,569.47 | 12,870.85| 12,870.89 | 12,870.91 114,182.12 153,372.28 (676.28)
Wages, Regular Part-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Wages, Part Time 149,667.00 | 43,984.81 9,491.82 9,721.59 9,610.69 72,808.91 99,786.11 49,880.89
Contratual Reserve 3,785.00 3,785.00
Employer FICA Total 23,132.00 8,939.57 1,674.31 1,691.82 1,683.48 13,989.18 18,926.86 4,205.14
Employee Health Insurance 34,020.00 | 16,506.31 2,112.71 2,192.23 3,711.19 24,522.44 32,456.00 1,564.00
Dental Plan 1,174.00 475.76 110.16 87.08 100.98 773.98 1,072.28 101.72
Health Insurance Waiver 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
NYS Retirement 24,901.00 | 11,931.94 2,203.28 2,204.74 2,231.82 18,571.78 25,774.71 (873.71)
Disability 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Natural Gas (NFG) 4,546.00 2,115.58 (14.95) 29.99 11.65 2,142.27 2,905.92 1,640.08
Electricity 9,226.00 2,356.70 745.86 2,003.95 0.00 5,106.51 7,057.50 2,168.50
Bottom Line Total 403,147.00 | 161,880.14 | 29,194.04 | 30,802.29 | 30,220.72 252,097.19 341,351.66 61,795.34

Notes:

System Paid Budget per Res. 2021-14

2021 Aurora System Paid Budget_September

Budget Comparison




o

Aurora Town Public Library

Review Schedule for Board Adopted Policies

2022
LAST TARGET
POLICY REVIEWED  REVIEW DATE
Conflict of Interest & Disclosure Statement April-21 April-22
Bulletin Board Policy May-17 May-22
Procurement Policy May-17 May-22
Long Range Plan of Service December-18 June-22
Ethics Policy September-17 September-22
Exhibit and Displays Policy & Application October-17 November-22
Lost & Found Policy October-17 November-22
Social Media Policy May-19 May-23
Claims Audit Policy May-18 May-23
Rules of Conduct March-19 March-24
Book Sale Policy May-19 May-24
Whistleblower Policy June-19 June-24
Community / Meeting Room Use Policy & Forms April-20 May-25
Investment Policy April-20 June-25
Reserving Library Tables Policy September-20 September-25
Petty Cash Policy October-20 October-25
Telecommuting Policy November-20 November-25
Open Meeting Policy Dec-20 Dec-25
Distribution Policy May-21 May-26
Bylaws June-21 June-26
~ reedom of Information Law (FOIL) Policy & Forms September-21 September-26
w»Gift and Donor Recognition Policy October-21 October-26

* The Conflict of Interest, Ethics and Whistleblower Policy are the responsibility of the Governance Commiittee.
**+* Circulation, EEO/Anti-Harassment, Internet Safety & Volunteer Policies are exhibits in CML contracts -
Notify Secretary in CFO Office who dogs CML Contracts when amended.

w#+ Conflict of Interest, EEO/Anti-Harassment, Ethics, & Whistleblower Policies are referenced in the
B&ECPL Personnel Policies & Procedures Manual - Notify Human Resources Dept. when amended.



RESOLUTION FOR CONTRACT LIBRARY BOARDS OF TRUSTEES PERSONNEL
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

AURORA TOWN PUBLIC LIBRARY MEETING DATE: December 14, 2021 @ 1 p.m.
AGENDA ITEM NUMBER: 8. New Business, Item c.

RESOLUTION: Adopt Amendments to B&ECPL Employee Handbook and Personnel
Policies and Procedures Manual

BACKGROUND:

On December 18, 2014, the Board of Trustees of the Buffalo & Erie County Public
Library (B&ECPL) approved and adopted the B&ECPL Personnel Policies and
Procedures Manual (Manual), which contained approximately 100 policies drafted by
the Human Resources Department, and the B&ECPL Employee Handbook (Handbook)
to be effective January 1, 2015. Thereafter, this Board adopted the Manual at its meeting
on December 14, 2021 for application to its employees.

Since January 1, 2015, a number of Personnel Policies and Procedures have been
modified by the Human Resources Department at the direction of the Chief Operating
Officer, several of which were necessary based on changes to the applicable laws or
governing collective bargaining agreements. Other changes were minor and incidental.
As stated in the Introduction of the Manual, changes made by Human Resources are
distributed electronically to all library departments and contract libraries. It is the
recommendation of this Board for an annual review of the changes made by Human
Resources to the Manual and Handbook in the twelve (12) months prior and
subsequent adoption by this Board.

ACTION REQUIRED: Motion to approve Resolution.



PROPOSED RESOLUTION i

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees of the Aurora Town Public Library has the power
and duty to determine and carry out all policies and principles pertaining to operations
of the library(ies); and the exclusive power and duty to control library personnel, and

WHEREAS, on December 18, 2014, the Board of Trustees of the Buffalo & Erie County
Public Library (B&ECPL) approved and adopted the B&ECPL Personnel Policies and
Procedures Manual (Manual) and the B&ECPL Employee Handbook (Handbook) to be
effective January 1, 2015, and |

WHEREAS, thereafter, on December 14, 2021 this Library Board adopted same for
application to its employees, and |

WHEREAS, the Human Resources Department reviews the policies and procedures in
the Manual throughout the year and makes changes as necessary, and

WHEREAS, changes to said policies and procedures are incidental or 5ased on changes

to applicable laws or collectively bargained agreements, and |

|
WHEREAS, changes to said policies and procedures may require corresponding

updates to the Handbook, and |

WHEREAS, on December 14, 2021, this Board reviewed the changes made by the
Human Resources Department to the policies since January 1, 2015 and recommends
approval of same, and

WHEREAS, this Board recommends the review of the changes annually with
subsequent reaffirmation of adoption of the Manual, and adoption of the amendments,
now therefore be it |

|
RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees of the Aurora Town Public Libtrary reaffirms its
adoption of the B&ECPL Personnel Policies and Procedures Manual af;d Employee
Handbook, and adopts the amendments made since January 1, 2015, and be it further

RESOLVED, that the Human Resources Department will continue to update the
B&ECPL Personnel Policies and Procedures Manual and the Employee Handbook, as
necessary, and will distribute same to all departments and contract libraries as set forth
in the Introduction to the Personnel Policies and Procedures Manual, and be it further

RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees of the Aurora Town Public Library endorses the
annual review of the revisions made by the Human Resources Depart}inent to the
B&ECPL Personnel Policies and Procedures Manual and the Employee Handbook in
the twelve (12) months prior to review for adoption by the Board. |




EMPLOYEE
HANDBOOK

\‘/

2021 EDITION



Dear Buffalo & Erie County Public Library Employee:

Your appointment to your position as a Buffalo & Erie County Public
Library (B&ECPL) employee carries with it certain duties, responsibilities,
rights and privileges. This Employee Handbook is designed to inform you
in detail of many of the personnel policies and procédures that apply to all
B&ECPL employees. I urge you to read this handbook thoroughly. It is
designed to help you to be more successful in your job.

This handbook is furnished to summarize briefly what you may expect
from your employment with the Buffalo & Erie County Public Library and
some of the things your department will expect of you. It is also meant
to answer some of the more common questions asked by both newer and
more established employees in B&ECPL service.

We are pleased you have joined our team and wish you a rewarding and
fulfilling public service career.

Sincerely,

Sreo %m |

Mary Jean Jakubowski, Director



TABLE OF CONTENTS

1Np410)010 04y (o) SN 1
BUFFALO & ERIE COUNTY PUBLIC LIBRARY ... 2
" TONMEMBERSHIP oo 4
CPTRALIZED HUMAN RESOURCES ..o 5
PERSONNEL FILES ..o 5
IDENTIFICATION CARDS. ..o 5
PROBATIONARY TERMS ..o 6
PART-TIME EMPLOYMENIT ..o 7
DUAL EMPLOYMENT oo 7
REASSIGNMENT WITHIN TITLE AND GRADE ... 8
COMPETITIVE CLASS TRANSFER ..o 8
REMOVAL AND OTHER DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS ... 8
LAY-OFE/RETRENCHMENT. ..o 12
RESIGNATIONS ..o 13
REINSTATEMENTS ... oo 14
ATTENDANCE & RECORDING ATTENDANCE ... 14
WORK SCHEDULES....ooooooeoooooooeoooeoooeoeoooeoooooooeoeoeooo 15
BREAK AND LUNCH PERIODS........oooooo 16
TARDINESS POLICY oo 16
EMERGENCY CLOSINGS ..o 16
TN 5T N I 17
SALARY PLAN oo 17
MERIT INCREMENTS. ... 17
DIRECT DEPOSIT oo 18
F" "XIBLE BENEEITS ..o 18
St LEAVE......ooererrrrcenrenn. hesuessasassessEsaEIS TR RSSO R RS RS RS SR e1seuesbeR SO SRSS 18
REPORTING SICK LEAVE ..o 19
ABUSE OF SICK LEAVE oo 20
EXTENDED SICK LEAVE........oooooooooooooooo 20
FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT OF 1993......o 21
MATERNITY LEAVE...ooooooooooooooooooooooo 23
VACATIONS oo 2%
PERSONAL LEAVE ..o 2%
BEREAVEMENT LEAVE. ..o 25
LEAVE FOR JURY DUTY oo 25
MILITARY LEAVE OF ABSENSE...........ooo 2%
CANCER SCREENING. ..o 2
BLOOD DONATION POLICY ..o 2
11



LEAVES WITHOUT PAY FOR OjTHER REASONS.........cocooererunncnrcnnne 27
EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY &

ANTI-HARASSMENT POLICY .......ccciiiirriernereersenereiniesnnesesseseresessssesens 27
SEXUAL HARASSMENT PREVENTION POLICY........ccocceerererrerrcererene 28
REASONABLE ACCOMODATIONS.........ccccovimmmenmnrnrsrnnressnsesssesesesesesnns 29
BULLYING POLICY ... uiuiiiiniiinnincncnienensesseiesiesseseesasessstsssessssssessssssssssssses 30
WORKPLACE VIOLENCE POLICY........c.cceisiruniverinennnnsressesesessesssssssenes 31
SAFETY AND HEALTH......cooevmieiccrerticeneietrcsresessessiessenesssesssesesssens 31
ON THE JOB INJURY ....ccetiiriicencnmeineinieiseisensesesesssssssssessssssessssssssssens 33
FOOTWEAR ...t centseansesisesnaesetsensisssassssassssssssssesssssssssssssssassnsas 33
SMOKING POLICY ...t iimircnenivnncseasisseensescsssessessassssssssossssssssessssassssns 33
DRUG FREE WORKPLACE..........coouiiiiiieieininnenrisiessssssessesessesesssnsassssenns 34
WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY .......ccvvunieerieieieiserernresnssssnssesnssesssessessssesssses 34
ETHICS POLICY ....ocuiureeinernrenineacanieesssiesasssssssssssssssssssessssssssessessssersens 35
POLITICAL ACTIVITY ..o vtvirirnircrcncnsisssssnsisssssssssssssssssssessssssessssassseses 35
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS .......ccccovmiiienmiensereensinsrssnnsinssesiossssssesssssssessssssssns 35
HEALTH & DENTAL INSURANCE..........cocosnrinieiernnnnrersnsesnsessessssssenees 36
WAIVERS OR BENEFITS. .........conuiinininiiiisineenensnsisissrnsnsssssesssssessesees 38
FEDERAL COBRA INSURANCE PROGRAM ......ccooumrmnenrrreresseressenenes 38
RETIREMENT BENEFITS.........ccccovictiniiicireniminrecninsissnsnnsssessssssesssssessesses 40
UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE.........cccovurumnmmenesisenrinssssessersssesessesessens 41
EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM.......coceunrrmmivmeinnnnnesiveresernsensenes 41
COMPUTERS, COMMUNICATIONS, & RELATED

TECHNOLOGY POLICY .....cooiiviiiniercrnisernesrnnesssssssssssessssssssessesssessesses 42
TELEPHONES........cooiiiitiiiitninitescnnetencersesssssssssssssssssassessesassssssessssassessns 42
TRAVEL EXPENSES.........ccooitiimiieincisiinieisisessesssnsisssssesesssssssssssseses 43

iii




INTRODUCTION

This 2021 edition of the Buffalo & Erie County Employee Handbook
supersedes any previous handbooks issued to B&ECPL employees. The
. [cies, procedures, and rules described in this handbook are subject to
‘E'h':nge, modification, or suspension. New policies, procedures, and rules
will be disseminated to the holders of this handbook as applicable. Many
of the conditions and procedures that cover B&ECPL employment are
specifically authorized or required by Law, statute, or collective bargaining
agreement. Examples include, but are not limited to, the New York State
Civil Service Law; New York State Public Officers Law; New York State
General Municipal Law; County Law; the Erie County Charter; the Erie
County Administrative Code; the “Rules for the Classified Civil Service of
the County of Erie...,” and all other state and federal laws that apply to all
employment, both public and private. The “Rules for the Classified Civil
Service of the County of Erie...” have the force and effect of law, are
published periodically by the Erie County Personnel Department, and are
available on the Human Resources page of the Intranet under Civil Service.

Laws, statutes, and work rules change over a period of time. For these
reasons this handbook is specifically meant only to supplement these other
sources. Anything contained herein that might inadvertently be in conflict
with any law, statute, or labor agreement will be void. In case of a conflict,
the applicable legal source will take precedence. This handbook does not
grant any employee, whether “at will” or union, with any rights other than
those provided by New York State or Federal laws.

fwe handbook is not intended to be comprehensive or to address all
B&ECPL policies or all the possible applications of, or exceptions to, the
policies, procedures, and rules described herein. Employees should also
consult the Buffalo & Erie County Public Library Personnel Policies and
Procedures (available on the Intranet), their collective bargaining
agreement (if applicable), or Human Resources (HR). If at any time you
have a 'question regarding a topic contained in this handbook, you may
contact a representative from Human Resources. Not all policies contained
herein may apply system-wide. Certain policies approved only by the
B&ECPL System Board for application at the B&ECPL libraries within the
City of Buffalo will state same. Contract Library employees should speak
to their supervisor to determine what policies their employer has adopted.

1



BUFFALO & ERIE COUNTY PUBLIC LIBRARY

In 1953, the Buffalo Public Library, the Grosvenor Library, and the Erie
County Public Library merged by New York State special legislation to
create 1 federated organization: the Buffalo and Erie County Public Library
(B&ECPL). In 1992, the B&ECPL asserted its independence from Erie
County under New York State Law in a court case that secured
administrative and financial authority previously held by officials of Erie
County government.

As of January 2021, the B&ECPL has 37 libraries and 1 bookmobile
operating throughout Erie County. These libraries are operated by 23
independent Boards of Trustees and 23 separate hiring authorities under
the Civil Service Law.

The Buffalo & Erie County Public Library System Board of Trustees
oversees the Central Library, 8 branches in the city of Buffalo, and the
Library on Wheels. It consists of 15 members who serve 5 year terms
on a rotating schedule. The director of the B&ECPL serves as
administrative, executive, and fiscal officer of the B&ECPL under the
supervision and jurisdiction of the Board of Trustees.

There are 22 Boards of Trustees which oversee the 29 contracting
libraries (libraries outside of the city of Buffalo). They annually contract
with the System for services, including -circulation technology,
programming, and materials, among others. The system provides funding
for almost all of the operations of member libraries while the local
municipality or membership association provides for the library building
and capital needs.

For over 175 years, the Buffalo & Erie County Public Library has provided
excellent library programs and services that meet the ever-changing needs
of Erie County’s residents.

Mission
Connecting our diverse community with library resources that enrich,
enlighten and entertain.



Vision

The Vision of the Buffalo & Erie County Public Library is to be deeply
rooted in the -community: promoting partnerships; fostering the
development of a literate and informed citizenry through free and equal
¢ ss to cultural, intellectual, recreational, and informational resources;
ﬁ‘lﬁ{ning for the future; and making the most effective use of taxpayer
funding.

Core Values

Core values represent an organization’s highest priorities, deeply held
beliefs, and fundamental driving forces. Core values define what an
organization believes and how it resonates both internally and
externally.

R.E.A.D. (Respect, Excellence, Accessibility, Dependability)

Respect
Practice civility and inclusion in our actions and attitudes; value, support
and respect all customers and staff

Excellence
Strive for superior performance and to maximize user experience through
collaboration, teamwork, training and enthusiasm

Accessibility
Ensure availability and ease of access to library services for all people

Dependability
Provide library services in a consistent, reliable, trustworthy and
responsible manner

Adopted by B&ECPL System Board of Trustees December 19, 2013; amended
November 21, 2019.

Principles

The Buffalo & Erie County Public Library will:

1. Provide open, equal and free access to information inaccordance
with the American Library Association's "Library Bill of Rights."

2. " Deliver timely, confidential, and customer-oriented service to meet the
informational, recreational, and educational needs of the community.

3



3. Promote lifelong learning by encouraging all children and adults in
their enjoyment of reading and discovery.

4. Contribute to the region's economic vitality by assisting individuals,
businesses, and government as they pursue better jobs and economic
growth.

5. Create and maintain an environment that attracts, develops, and

encourages a diverse and skilled staff.

Listen to the entire community in pursuit of the Library’s Mission.

Manage resources effectively and be accountable to its funding sources.

Pursue the private and public funding necessary to fulfill the

Library’s Mission.

® NN

Adopted by BEECPL System Board of Trustees December 17, 1998.

UNION MEMBERSHIP

In accordance with the Public Employees Fair Employment Act (Taylor
Law), union membership is not a requisite for employment. However, any
employee who is eligible for union membership and whose title is not
designated as Managerial or Confidential may join a union if they so
choose. The B&ECPL will neither encourage nor discourage membership
in any union or with any certified employee representative.

Further, we quote a standard "PLEDGE AGAINST DISCRIMINATION
AND COERCION" from a current bargaining agreement:

"The employer agrees not to interfere with the rights of employees
to become members of the Union, and there shall be no discrimination,
interference, restraint, or coercion by the employer or any employer
representative against any employee because of Union membership or
because of any employee activity in an official capacity on behalf of the
Union."

Currently 4 bargaining units exist within the B&ECPL: American
Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, Local 1095, Council
66, AFL-CIO (AFSCME); Clerical and Maintenance Union of the Buffalo &
~ Erie County Public Library - Contracting Libraries, NYSUT-AFT (CMU);
Civil Service Employees Association, Inc., Local 1000 A.F.S.C.M.E, AFL-
CIO, Erie Unit of Local 815 (CSEA); and Librarians Association of the
Buffalo & Erie County Public Library.

4



Employees should contact the respective union representative for
information on joining the union. Human Resources will advise an
employee of which bargaining unit their current position is assigned to.

ﬁﬁ:cordance with all bargaining agreements, the B&ECPL is required to
uct union dues from the pay of each employee who signs a
membership dues check off authorization card. The B&ECPL will forward
all amounts so deducted to the appropriate bargaining agents, together
with a list of the names of the persons from whose pay deductions have
been made and the deductions from each.

CENTRALIZED HUMAN RESOURCES

In May 2001, the B&ECPL implemented Centralized Human Resources
(CHR) to manage its human resources more efficiently and cost effectively.
Under CHR, each year the 22 contract library Boards of Trustees enter into
a contract with the B&ECPL to manage their human resources. CHR offers
cost-saving benefits, reduces liability, affords library directors additional
time to focus on service, and facilitates consistent System-wide policies and
procedures. Accordingly, the human resources for all libraries within the
current B&ECPL System are managed by the Human Resources
Department at the Central Library.

PERSONNEL FILES

Under Centralized Human Resources there shall be only 1 official

~ pnnel file for each employee. This official file will be maintained by
ﬁﬂf{mn Resources. It will contain written materials pertinent to the
employee's work status and employment, including disciplinary records.
These employee files are considered confidential and access to them is
restricted. The contents of an employee’s personnel file are governed by
New York State and Federal Laws, as well as any collective bargaining
agreements if the employee is a member of a union.

IDENTIFICATION CARDS

Any employee of the Central Library or Buffalo City Branches who is
issued an official B&ECPL issued identification card (ID card) must report
to work wearing their ID card and must wear it at all times in a visible

5



manner at or above the waist throughout their work day. The ID card
serves as both a means of employee identification and access for the
employee to enter designated work areas using the B&ECPL Access
Control system. A B&ECPL issued ID card is required for entering the
Central Library and applicable Buffalo Branch libraries, before or after
normal hours of operation, for selected designated door access, and at all
times from the Oak Street employee entrance at the Central Library.

It is the employee's responsibility to seek replacement for any card that is
lost, stolen, or mutilated. Employees must notify Security immediately
upon loss of card and request a replacement. Employees will be charged
for the cost of a new ID card. A replacement fee will be charged to the
employee’s library card account.

ID cards must be returned to Human Resources when an employee
terminates their employment for any reason.

PROBATIONARY TERMS

Every original appointment to a permanent position in the Competitive,
Non-Competitive and Labor Classes are subject to satisfactory completion
of a probationary period of not less than 8 nor more than 26 weeks. All
promotional Competitive Class titles require probationary periods. Time
served under provisional or temporary appointment does not count toward
completion of probation under that specific title.

A probationer’s services may be terminated anytime between the 8th and
26th week after 1 week’s written notice to the probationer. Upon request, a
probationer being terminated shall be granted an interview with the
department head or specified designee.

Competitive Class probationary employees who are not retained in their
positions upon completion of their probationary periods may petition the
Commissioner of Personnel to reinstate their names to the eligible lists for
their titles. Such requests must be in writing and will be considered upon
their individual merits.

Employees should refer to their collective bargaining agreements for
additional information.




PART-TIME EMPLOYMENT

A “part-time” employee shall be defined as an employee who works less
than 20 hours per work week in any library or combination of libraries
w An the B&ECPL System.

Unless otherwise negotiated through the process of collective
bargaining, the B&ECPL will strictly adhere to said definition of “part-
time” and not cause any part-time employee to work more than 19
hours in any given work week in any library or combination of libraries
within the B&ECPL System.

DUAL EMPLOYMENT

Unless otherwise negotiated through the process of collective
bargaining, no full-time, regular part-time, seasonal or part-time employee
may serve concurrently in another position within the B&ECPL System
without the written approval of the System Library Director.

Dual or multiple appointments will not be approved in the same

department or in different departments, branches, or contracting libraries

absent extenuating circumstances. Should circumstances warrant
consideration of a temporary secondary appointment and approval of the

System Library Director is granted, the following guidelines shall apply:

1. A temporary appointment to a secondary position shall not exceed 3
months.

Ul efforts must be made to ensure that the part-time employee does
not exceed 19 hours per week when the hours performed under each
position are combined.

3. There can be no conflict in hours, nor will dual compensation be paid
by the library to the employee for the same hours.

4. Said employee must be scheduled at least 30 minutes between work
shifts if they must travel from 1 location to another.

The Library Director will not approve appointment to any secondary
employment which would be subject to the time and one-half pay
provisions of the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act.

The Library Director will not approve any secondary appointment, unless
such temporary appointment is vital to the operation of the department.
7



REASSIGNMENT WITHIN TITLE AND GRADE

Applicants are normally interviewed and hired to fill a specific position in
a specific work unit, under a specific title. This does not confer upon an
incumbent a permanent claim to that position in that particular work unit.
While efforts are made to provide continuity of operations and personnel
in each work unit, the needs of departments and the circumstances of the
individual may change over a period of time. An employee may be
reassigned to another operation or work unit, or even to a different
department within the hiring authority.

COMPETITIVE CLASS TRANSFER

Employees with permanent status in Competitive Class positions can
transfer to positions under the same titles in another library or Erie County
department. Such transfers require the permission of the head of the
department to which transfer is sought, the Commissioner of Personnel (if
to a County department), and the employee being transferred. Transfer
under the same title between library /departments does not affect the Civil
Service status of transferees in any way. They may be permitted to transfer
accrued benefits with them to the new library/department. Such use or
transfer of benefits should be worked out with the respective departments
prior to the actual transfer, so as to avoid possible misunderstandings or
confusion.

Transfers may be made either intra-departmentally (within the same
department), or inter-deparimentally (between 2 separate departments), as
indicated in the first paragraph of this section. There are provisions to
cover each type of transfer in the several collective bargaining agreements.
Please refer to the appropriate agreement(s) if you contemplate requesting
either type of transfer.

REMOVAL AND OTHER DISCIPLINARY ACTION

The orderly and efficient operation of B&ECPL business and services
requires that all employees observe certain minimum standards of
behavior and performance. The rules listed below are to ensure proper
conduct by all employees so that employees” health, safety, and property
are protected and the delivery of necessary services is not interrupted.

8




Unsatisfactory work performance or violation of the rules will result in
disciplinary action.

The B&ECPL endorses the policy of progressive discipline for represented

'loyees Normal steps in this process are oral warning, written warning,
sif¥ension from duty, and finally discharge. The policy of progressive
d1sc1plme does not necessarily apply for more serious violations or
offenses, where immediate discharge or suspension, in line with due
process, may be required.

Rules:

General work rules that apply are listed below and are arranged in 3
groups, by type or seriousness of violation. The list is not all-inclusive.
Every possible situation for which discipline may result cannot be set forth
in alist. The following acts are prohibited:

GROUP A

(Violations may result in immediate discharge)

1. Fighting, provoking a fight, or disorderly conduct of any kind,
specifically including, but not limited to, striking a member of the
public or co-worker.

2. Drinking, possessing alcoholic beverages or narcotic substances (other
than medical prescriptions) on B&ECPL premises, or reporting to work
under the influence of alcohol or drugs.

3. Immoral conduct or indecency of any kind.

4. Violation of any criminal law or the commission of an offense which
‘nvolves moral turpitude.

Siee{hreatening, intimidating, or coercing any fellow employee or member
of the public in any manner, including violations of the B&ECPL's
Workplace Violence Policy.

6. Willful or deliberate violation of safety rules and practices which could
endanger you, a co-worker, or any member of the public.

7. Insubordination or failure to follow the reasonable direction or order
of a supervisor. NOTE: Even if you have reservations concerning a
specific order or direction, carry it out as directed, unless doing so
would create a definite health hazard to another or would result in an
illegal action. If, after having carried out the order/direction, you still
seriously question its appropriateness, file a grievance concerning the
action and have the matter settled through appropriate channels.

8. Deliberate restriction or interference with the work performed by your

9



department or work unit or that performed by another person.

9. Destruction or theft of property, tools, or equipment belonging either
to the B&ECPL or to any other employee or person.

10. Falsification of or making any material change to any B&ECPL or
County record, letter, or document submitted to the B&ECPL or
County. .

11. Falsification of any time record, including swiping an identification
card, punching a time card, or signing or making an entry on any sign
in/sign out time sheet for anyone other than yourself.

12. Failure to report to work without authorization for extension after
expiration of an approved sick leave or other leave of absence.

13. Unauthorized use and/or removal of B&ECPL property, records, or
any other materials from B&ECPL premises.

14. Unauthorized possession of firearms, explosives, or other weapons,
either on employee’s person or on B&ECPL premises.

15. Sale of drugs or intoxicants on B&ECPL premises.

16. Soliciting or accepting any financial or non-financial reward in

~ return for special consideration in the purchase or providing of
goods or services or the awarding of any contract.

17. Gambling on B&ECPL premises.

18. Leaving an essential work post premises during working hours
without notifying your supervisor and receiving specific authorization
to do so.

19. Engaging in acts of discrimination or retaliation in violation of the
B&ECPL’s Equal Employment Opportunity & Anti-Harassment Policy
or Sexual Harassment Prevention Policy or otherwise engaging in acts
that violate the B&ECPL.'s harassment policies.

20. Engaging in acts of bullying in violation of the B&ECPL’s Bullying
Policy.

2]. Engaging in acts in violation of the B&ECPL's Workplace Violence
Policy.

22. Failure to report to work for a period of time without following
procedures for reporting sick, requesting leave, etc.

23. Misrepresentation or false information reported on a job application or
application for benefits, including, but not limited to, health insurance.

GROUPB

(Violations that may result in suspension. Gravity of a single violation or
repeated violations of either a single rule or combination of rules may also
result in discharge.)

10



1. Horseplay of any kind; this action can result in serious injury.

2. Abuse of tools or equipment belonging either to the B&ECPL, Erie
County, or another employee.

3. Leaving the work premises during working hours without permission of

~/he supervisor.

4.7 Leaving the work area during working hours without permission of the
supervisor.

5. The circulation of malicious or slanderous rumors, documents, or
remarks concerning any employee, the B&ECPL, its services, or
bargaining agents.

6. Gambling of any nature on B&ECPL premises, including the
unauthorized sale of lottery or raffle tickets, betting slips, etc. NOTE:
Sale of New York State Lottery tickets by licensed vendors such
as candy and sundries stands operated by the blind are exempt
from this rule.

7. Posting of any material on B&ECPL bulletin boards without B&ECPL
permission. Additionally, altering, defacing, or removing authorized
notices appearing on B&ECPL bulletin boards.

8. Personal use of B&ECPL materials, tools, or equipment without proper
permission.

9. Performing personal business during B&ECPL working hours.

10. An unreasonable number of absences, repeated failure to report
absences, or any unauthorized absence.

11. Sleeping during working hours.

12. Repeated unauthorized extension of rest breaks or lunch periods.

13. Repeated and excessive tardiness.

. 1/ Neglect of job duties or responsibilities.

1Hransporting, picking up, or delivering unauthorized passengers, or
any other unauthorized use of B&ECPL vehicles for personal business.

16. Negligence, carelessness, or willful acts which result in damage to
B&ECPL property or to the property of another employee or
member of the public.

17. Incompetence or inability to perform assigned work.

18. Discourteous treatment of the public or co-workers, or any other
conduct that does not warrant public trust.

19. Failure to follow job instructions, directions, or B&ECPL or
departmental policies and procedures.

20. Using abusive, profane, or threatening language to a supervisor or a
fellow employee or otherwise threatening, intimidating, or coercing
any other employee or member of the public.

11



[
21. The unauthorized use of any login, password, or access code to gain
access to a computer, voice mail, or other B&ECPL information system.
22. Using the B&ECPL's email system or accessing the internet during
working hours for non-B&ECPL business, other than incidental use.

23. Excessive personal phone calls or texting on personal cell phones
during working hours.

GROUPC

(Violation may result in written reprimand or repeated violations may
result in other disciplinary action, such as suspension or even
discharge.)

1. Leaving work area early, prior to wash-up or quitting time.

2. Failure to use safety equipment which is provided.

3. Failure to report any personal injury to the supervisor.

4. Repeated failure to punch own time card, to sign in or out on sign-
in/sign-out sheets, or to swipe identification card in swipe card reader.
Failure to maintain reasonable productivity and workmanship.
Misuse of B&ECPL time such as loitering in halls, rest rooms, or
cafeterias, interfering with other employees’ work routines,
engaging in prolonged conversations which are not work related, etc.

oo

NOTE: Employees should refer to their collective bargaining agreement for
more specific guidelines regarding discipline.

LAY-OFF/RETRENCHMENT

For Competitive Class Positions

All layoffs are in accordance with Section 80 of the Civil Service Law and
with the provisions of applicable collective bargaining agreements. A
Competitive Class employee’s retention rights are based on seniority,
which dates from the first date of permanent appointment in the classified
service. Those with temporary or provisional appointments who have not
previously had permanent status with continuous service since are not
entitled to re-call or to re-instatement under Civil Service Law.

Section 80 governs lay-off of permanent employees in the Competitive
Class. For these employees, the lay-off unit is the library/appointing
authority to which they work. If they cannot “bump” within the
library/appointing authority from which they are laid-off, their names are
then put on preferred lists according to seniority for recall, as positions

12



become available within the hiring authority from which they were laid
off.

For Non-Competitive and Labor Class Positions

Mcollective bargaining agreements prescribe the method for lay-off of
[Bh-Competitive and Labor Class employees. The agreements describe

the “bumping” procedures in detail, along with the methods for

determining retention rights for other than Competitive Class employees.

NOTE: Some collective bargaining agreements provide that a person
whose job is affected and who has enough seniority to “bump” another can
elect to take lay-off rather than exercise bumping privileges. Persons laid-
off through no fault of their own are usually entitled to Unemployment
Compensation benefits. Eligibility for Unemployment Insurance may be
affected if a person voluntarily elects this lay-off rather than “bump”.
Employees should check with the New York State Department of Labor
before considering this option.

Preferred lists are established only for Competitive Class titles under the
provisions of Civil Service Law. They should not be confused with Recall
Lists, which are based on seniority and are established in accordance with
the provisions of collective bargaining agreements.

RESIGNATIONS

All resignations shall be in writing. If no effective date is specified in a
r 7nation, it shall take effect upon delivery to or filing in the office of the
é’ppbinting authority. If an effective date is specified in a resignation, it
shall take effect on the date specified. However, if a resignation is
submitted while the employee is on leave of absence without pay, the
resignation, for the purpose of determining eligibility for reinstatement,
shall be deemed to be effective as of the date of the commencement of such
absence. Notwithstanding the provisions of this section, when charges of
incompetency or misconduct have been or are about to be filed against an
employee, the appointing authority may elect to disregard a resignation
filed by the employee and to prosecute those charges; and, in the event that
the employee is found guilty of those charges and dismissed from the
service, the termination will be recorded as a dismissal rather than a
resignation.

13



A resignation may not be withdrawn, canceled, or amended after it is
delivered to the appointing authority without the consent of the
appointing authority.

REINSTATEMENT

To Competitive Class Positions

Permanent Competitive Class employees who have resigned from their
positions may be reinstatec by the appointing authority without further
Civil Service examination. :

Any request for reinstatement must be initiated by the applicant and must
be submitted in writing directly to the appointing authority. Reinstatement
may be granted to the position from which employee resigned, if vacant,
or to different position(s) for which the employee was eligible for transfer
or reassignment at the time of resignation. Reinstatement after separation
for more than 1 year requires the approval of the Commissioner of Erie
County Personnel. '

To Other than Competitive Class Positions

For resignation and re-instatement to other than Competitive Class
positions and/or titles, employees should refer to their collective
bargaining agreement.

ATTENDANCE & RECORDING ATTENDANCE

Employees must accurately record their attendance at work by completing
their designated electronic timesheet. Employees must record their time
when arriving to work at the beginning of the workday, when leaving
for and returning from meal periods, and when leaving work at the end of
the workday.

Employees must request leave using the Employee Leave Request form
(PO-19) or Request for Leave of Absence Form (PO-18) as appropriate and
attach completed form(s) to the printed version of their electronic time
sheet.

Abuses of time and attendance rules are grounds for disciplinary action,
and any falsification of time records, including the recording of time for

14




someone other than yourself, will be considered a serious offense and
grounds for immediate termination.

Any day that an employee must be absent from their scheduled shift they

.t report the impending absence to their department head or specified
designee prior to the start of the scheduled shift. The specific amount of
advance notice required is governed by the respective bargaining
agreements, where applicable.

Advance notice is essential in order to ensure that necessary shift coverage
can be maintained and that work can be re-scheduled to prevent missed
deadlines or other possibly serious consequences of the absence.

Employees not covered by a collective bargaining agreement must report
absence no less than 30 minutes prior to the start of their shift.

WORK SCHEDULES

Hours of work for all B&ECPL employees must comply with Federal and
State Wage and Hour Laws.  For unionized employees, collective
bargaining agreements may also set rules pertaining to hours of work.

Within these parameters, it is the responsibility of each department head
either personally or through specified designee(s) to formally establish the
specific working hours for each of the department's employees, and to set
up and maintain adequate controls to assure that such working hours are
rf\'}arly observed and that they meet the department’s requirements.

It is important for employees to recognize that the libraries are open
varying hours to meet the needs of patrons. Accordingly, a “traditional”
(for example, Monday to Friday, 9 am to 5 pm) schedule may not be
appropriate for many libraries. Schedules should be reflective of the open
hours of the library and/or department where the employee is assigned.

Should the employer deem it necessary to change an employee’s
previously established regularly scheduled hours of work, the employer
will adhere to any notification requirements contained in the applicable
collective bargaining agreements.

15



|
Employees should refer to their collective bargaining agreement where
applicable for more detailed information regarding hours of work.

BREAK AND LUNCH PERIODS

The B&ECPL will abide by Federal and State laws and the provisions of
respective collective bargaining agreements pertaining to break and lunch
periods.

All employees who work a minimum of 4 hours per day shall be entitled
to one 15 minute break period. Employees who work 8 hours per day shall
be entitled to a 15 minute break during the first half of the work day and a
second 15 minute break during the second half of the work day.

Unless otherwise provided for in a collective bargaining agreement,
employees scheduled to work more than 6 continuous hours in a single
shift are to be provided with a minimum of one half hour unpaid lunch
period. Employees should refer to their collective bargaining agreements
where applicable to determine lunch period entitlement.

TARDINESS POLICY

All employees are required to be at their work stations at their designated

start times. Failure to do so is considered tardiness, as is early leave or late

return from lunch or break periods and departure from the work station

prior to the designated quitting time. ,

1. Daily time and attendance records must be maintained accurately for
each employee for actual hours worked, and for actual lunch breaks.

2. Time and attendance is part of an employee's annual performance
evaluation. Chronic tardiness may be the basis for a less favorable
evaluation, including the denial of a salary increment.

3. A "dockage" from salary does not excuse tardiness. Therefore, chronic
and excessive tardiness shall also be grounds for disciplinary action up
to and including termination.

EMERGENCY CLOSINGS

In the event the B&ECPL System Library Director (or specified designee)
declares the closing of certain B&ECPL libraries’ operations and/or

16



services due to any uncontrollable emergency, employees who have
reported to work may leave work unless they have been designated as
essential. Resulting time off from work shall be treated as set forth in the
collective bargaining agreement or benefits package for the employees so
¢ __sted. Employees should refer to their collective bargaining agreement
Z}BJenefits package for specific guidelines.

PAY DAYS

The B&ECPL pays its employees bi-weekly. Pay days are on Friday. If that
day is a holiday, the pay day is the preceding work day. B&ECPL makes
every reasonable effort to pay those persons working second and third
shifts on the day prior to the day that first-shift employees are paid.

SALARY PLAN

An employee’s salary is determined based on which job group their title is
allocated and which union (if applicable) they are represented by.

The applicable Civil Service Commission determines which job group a
title is allocated to, to ensure consistent and equitable pay. Nearly every
B&ECPL title has been formally assigned to a job group or has been
assigned an hourly rate.

The salary ranges for each job group and the overall salary plan are
administered by the County Personnel Department. Modifications to the

I\)ﬂ%s, as applied to employees covered by union contracts, are negotiated
with the collective bargaining agents.

Employees who receive flat salaries and employees in seasonal or non-
regular employment are excluded from the regular salary rules.

MERIT INCREMENTS

Employees are awarded merit increments upon the recommendation of the
department head. Such recommendation is based upon the supervisor's
and the department's review of the employee's performance during the
increment period. For specific information on merit increments or

17



information regarding longevity, employees should refer to their
bargaining agreement.

DIRECT DEPOSIT

The Library offers a direct deposit program for all employees. The program
allows employees to directly deposit their paycheck into any ABA
participating bank or credit union in the United States (maximum of 5
banks). The direct deposit form can be found on the Intranet.

FLEXIBLE BENEFITS

Employees may participate in a Flexible Benefits Program approved under
Sections 125 and 132 of the Internal Revenue Code. This program allows
employees to reduce their Federal, State, and Social Security tax bases for
miscellaneous qualified medical, dependent care, adoption, health
insurance premium, and parking expenses by using pretax dollars to cover
these expenses, within a set limit. Enrollment forms are distributed to all
employees in November of each year. For more information, employees
should contact Human Resources.

SICK LEAVE

Employees may accrue unused sick leave up to the maximum allowed in
their collective bargaining agreements or in policies designated for
Managerial/Confidential and non-represented employees. Accrued
unused sick leave provides very valuable “insurance” against unexpected
loss of earnings during illness or injury.

In cases of absence due to illness or injury for 5 or more consecutive
days, unless otherwise stated in employee’s collective bargaining
agreement, employees must provide a statement from their attending
physicians showing incapacity and inability to perform their duties.
Following such illness or injury, employees must present a statement from
their physician demonstrating ability to return to work prior to their
return.

Every use of sick leave réquires a written application for approval of use
of leave (PO-19), which must be approved by the employee’s

18




supervisor. Anticipated sick leave should be requested and approved in
advance. Unanticipated sick leave should be approved promptly upon
return to work.

S\ l€ave shall not be granted in less than 1 hour increments.
REPORTING SICK LEAVE

Each day that absence is necessary under the sick leave provisions and
established practices, employees must report to their department heads (or
the specified designee of the department head) within 30 minutes before
the start of the employee’s shift, except where otherwise stated in the
employee’s collective bargaining agreement. The daily call-in report
should include, insofar as possible, the general nature of the illness or
injury (or in the case of illness in immediate family, the relationship and
nature of illness) and the anticipated return date.

It is essential that the call-in be made directly to the department head or
specified designee(s); call-in reports of absence to any other employee shall
not be deemed proper notice. Information regarding employee illnesses
and injuries is confidential and will only be shared with others who have
a legitimate business that need to know. In cases of serious injury or
accident, it is acceptable for a family member to report on behalf of the
employee.

Daily call-in is required each and every day, except:

i Nhen illness is of anticipated short duration not exceeding 5 days,

Vemployees must state, at time of initial call-in, the anticipated duration
of absence. If they fail to do so, they are expected either to report to
work the following workday or call in on a daily basis. Employees shall
call in the day before their previously reported anticipated return date
and report their present status.

2. When absence is the result of accident or serious illness and at the time
of call-in there is no indication of duration of absence, it is expected that
the employee or member of family will report more definite
information secured from the attending physician regarding the
apparent nature of illness or injury and anticipated return date within
3 days after the initial call-in.

3. When absence is the result of accident or serious illness and the
attending physician indicates that an employee cannot return to work

19



until a specified time, the employee is expected to return to duty on the
date indicated.

4. When an employee calls in and reports that the attending physician has
informed them that they will be unable to work indefinitely due to
extended illness, the employee is expected to report a return to duty
date as soon as one is determined.

Upon reporting illness/injury as stated above, employees shall promptly

‘submit to their department head a certificate from their attending
physician indicating the nature of illness and anticipated return date,
if known. In the event of any change in condition or change in anticipated
return date from that previously reported, a new certificate from the
attending physician shall be submitted. '

Employees shall be required to submit such physician certification forms,
other documentation, and any other reasonably requested information
relating to or supporting the use of sick leave as may be requested by their
department head or specified designee(s).

ABUSE OF SICK LEAVE

Abuse of sick leave privileges shall be grounds for disciplinary action, up
to and including termination. When an employee's absences are such that
the B&ECPL has reasonable grounds to believe that an abuse of sick leave
may exist, the employee will be notified in writing of such suspected abuse;
thereafter the employee may be required, regardless of the duration of the
absence, to submit a satisfactory physician's certificate or affidavit
indicating the specific nature of the disability and its duration to Human
Resources before such absence may be charged against the employee's
accumulated sick leave balance.

EXTENDED SICK LEAVE

In extreme circumstances of catastrophic illness or injury, the B&ECPL will
consider the request of a permanent employee for extended sick leave with
pay, subject to the approval of the Erie County Commissioner of
Personnel or the Librarian’s Professional Council (where applicable).
Employees should consult their respective bargaining agreements.

20



In accordance with various collective bargaining agreements, employees
with a minimum required years of continuous service who have exhausted
all leave credits because of extended illness or injury, may be granted
additional paid sick leave, upon the written request of the department
K+ and approval by the Commissioner of Personnel. No employee will
be granted more than 5 months of extended sick leave benefits during the
course of their B&ECPL service.

A few general rules apply to the use of extended sick leave for all

B&ECPL employees:

1. Approval for such leave must be applied for separately for each month
(30 days) of continuous absence, and must be approved by the
department head and by the Commissioner of Personnel.

2. All accrued time must be exhausted before approval for extended leave
may become effective.

3. No credits for sick leave, personal leave, or vacation shall be earned
during periods of extended sick leave with pay granted in
accordance with this section.

The B&ECPL and Erie County retain the right to confer with the attending
physician during such extended leave, and/or to request that an employee
granted such leave be examined by a physician chosen by the B&ECPL or
Erie County.

FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT OF 1993

T purpose of this policy is to inform employees of their rights under the
Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 (FMLA), as amended.

The U.S. Department of Labor's Employment Standards Administration
administers and enforces FMLA for all private, state, and local government
employees and some federal employees. The law contains provisions
relating to employer coverage; employee eligibility for the benefits of the
law; entitlement to leave, maintenance of health benefits during leave, and
job restoration after leave; notice and certification of the need for FMLA
leave; and protections for employees who request or take FMLA leave. In
addition, the law includes certain employer record- keeping provisions.

Entitlement to Leave
FMLA requires covered employers to provide up to 12 weeks of unpaid,

21



job-protected leave during a 12 month period to eligible employees for the

following reasons: ,

1. For incapacity due to pregnancy, prenatal medical care or childbirth;

2. To care for the employee’s child after birth, or for placement for
adoption or foster care;

3. To care for the employee’s spouse, minor son or daughter, or parent
who has a serious health condition;

4. Tor a serious health condition that makes the employee unable to
perform the employee’s job; or

5. For a qualifying exigency arising from active military duty or call to
active duty of an eligible employee’s spouse, parent or child.

A “serious health condition” is an illness, injury, impairment, or physical
or mental condition that involves either an overnight stay in a medical care
facility or continuing treatment by a health care provider, for a condition
that either prevents the employee from performing the functions of the
employee’s job or prevents the qualified family member from participating
in school or other daily activities.

Subject to certain conditions, the continuing treatment requirement may be
met by a period of incapacity of more than 3 consecutive calendar days
combined with at least 2 visits to a health care provider or 1 visit and a
regimen of continuing treatment, by incapacity due to pregnancy, or by
incapacity due to a chronic condition.

As noted above, FMLA also includes a special leave entitlement that
permits eligible employees to take up to 26 weeks of leave to care for a
covered service member or veteran during a single 12-month period. A
"covered service member" is a current member of the Armed Forces,
including a member of the National Guard or Reserves, who has a serious
injury or illness incurred by the member in the line of duty on active duty
in the Armed Forces (or existed before the beginning of the member's active
duty and was aggravated by service in line of duty on active duty) and
that may render the member medically unfit to perform the duties of
the member's office, grade, rank, or rating,

Eligibility

To be eligible for FMLA benefits, an employee must have:

1. Worked for B&ECPL at least 12 months; and

2. Worked at least 1250 regular hours in the previous 12 months.

22



The complete FMLA Policy and Procedure can be found on the Intranet or
in the Human Resources. Should any employee wish to exercise their rights
under the FMLA, please consult the Intranet and/or contact HR. HR will
inform you of your eligibility and provide you with the necessary

rwork, which is also available on the Intranet under Forms, Policies
and Procedures.

MATERNITY LEAVE

A full-time or regular part-time employee who is unable to perform the
duties of their position due to pregnancy or child birth will be granted
maternity leave for the period of pregnancy disability. Maternity leave
provisions may vary depending upon the employee’s bargaining unit;
employees should consult their collective bargaining agreement.

A few general rules apply to the use of maternity leave for all B&ECPL

employees:

1. Maternity leave shall be granted for the period of employee's disability
due to pregnancy, including 2 weeks prior to the anticipated due date,
delivery, and normal post-delivery recuperation only.

2. The period of pregnancy disability begins the date the employee s
physician states that they may no longer work, and ends 6 weeks after
date of delivery. In the case of caesarean section, the period of disability
ends 8 weeks after delivery date.

3. During the 7th month of pregnancy, the employee should
notify Human Resources in writing that they are pregnant, what the

v=st1mated due date is, and how long they plan to be out for
maternity leave.

4. If an employee qualifies for the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA),
forms will be mailed to the employee to have their physician
complete and return to Human Resources. The employee should also
complete Request for Leave (PO-19) forms and submit to their payroll
clerk for the anticipated time of leave.

5. Sick leave may be used during the period of pregnancy disability only.
In the event an employee has no accrued sick leave, they have the
option to use other forms of accumulated paid leave.

6. Leave under FMLA shall run concurrent with maternity leave under
this section, and accruals must be used during the FMLA time
period in accordance with the B&ECPL FMLA policy.

7. If sick leave and other accrued leave are exhausted before the period of

23



pregnancy disability ends, the employee will be granted a Leave
Without Pay. The duration of the disability and estimated date of
confinement must be substantiated by a statement from the employee's
physician.

8. The employee’s health insurance is paid according to the provisions of
their collective bargaining agreement and FMLA, where qualified.

VACATIONS

Vacations are earned and may be taken by full-time and regular part- time
~ employees according to the schedules and rules negotiated with each -
bargaining unit, or according to policies established for
Managerial/ Confidential and non-represented employees.

A few general rules apply to the use of vacation time for all B&ECPL

employees:

1. Vacation can be taken only in the minimum units provided in the

collective bargaining agreements, or in policies for Managerial/

Confidential and non-represented employees.

Vacation accruals are credited bi-weekly, as they are earned.

Vacation accruals must be earned before they can be taken.

The scheduling of vacations must be approved by the department head

or specified designee in advance, and such approval is subject to the

work requirements of the department or work unit.

5. While sincere efforts are made to try to schedule vacation times desired
by the employee, staffing requirements of the work unit must take
precedence.

Lol

PERSONAL LEAVE

Full-time and regular part-time employees of the BRECPL may })e eligible
for personal leave after 1 year of continuous service. Entitlement to
personal leave may vary depending on an employee’s status and
bargaining unit. Employees should refer to their respective collective
bargaining agreement where applicable.

A few general rules apply to the accrual and use of personal leave for all

B&ECPL employees:

1. An employee becomes eligible for personal leave on their anniversary
date after onel year of continuous service.

24




2. Employees shall be eligible each succeeding year of employment
providing they are on a compensable salary and wage basis for at least
6 months of cumulative service in the preceding anniversary year and

_ otherwise meet all eligibility requirements.
.3, ,ersonal leave is not cumulative from year to year. Unused personal
eave credit shall be added to the employee's accumulated sick leave
bank at the end of the employee's anniversary year. This addition does
not extend the permissible accumulation of sick leave beyond the
maximum permitted under the respective bargaining agreements.

- 4. Personal leave can be taken only in the minimum units provided in the
collective bargaining agreements, or in policies for Management/
Confidential and non-represented employees.

5. Inorder to ensure adequate work coverage, requests for personal leave
must be submitted to the department head or supervisor by an
employee on the proper form at least 5 working days in advance when
the requested time is 4 days, and 3 working days in advance when the
request is for 3 days or less. In cases of emergency, the normal 5 or 3
days’ notice may be waived by the department head.

BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

All full-time and regular part-time employees who are on active pay status
and who experience a death in their immediate family or of another

‘relative who is an actual member of the employee's household may be
entitled to bereavement leave. Employees who have a qualified death in
the family will not be required to report to work for any work shift for
v h they would otherwise be regularly scheduled during the period of
berehvement leave established by their collective bargaining agreement.
The employee will receive straight time pay for any such regularly
scheduled shifts not worked during this period. Employees should consult
their collective bargaining agreements for additional information.

LEAVE FOR JURY DUTY

Leave of absence will be granted to employees who are called for jury duty
or must attend court for other than personal reasons. Pay during jury duty
is provided to the extent set forth in the respective collective bargaining
agreements. Employees must present proof of the need for jury service or
court attendance and proof that they were actually in attendance on the

25



days claimed. Employees should refer to their collective bargaining
agreement for details.

Part-time employees shall be eligible to receive up to $40 per day for each
of the first 3 days of jury service for a maximum of $120 in total. Employee
shall not be paid more than they would have earned if they worked. To be
eligible for this daily payment, the employee must have been scheduled to
work and, due to jury service, was unable to report. If the employee was
not scheduled to work that day, the employee is not eligible for payment.

MILITARY LEAVE OF ABSENCE

Employees entering active military duty are entitled to leaves of absence
from their positions while engaged in, going to, and returning from
military duty. The right to this leave is provided for in the Military Law
and is not at the discretion of the appointing officer. This provision also
applies to reservists, draftees, and volunteers equally.

Employees who are ordered to active duty in the National Guard or any
reserve force are entitled to remain on active pay status for a total of 30
calendar days or 22 work days (whichever is greater) in any calendar year.

A copy of the employee’s Military Orders must be submitted with all
military leave requests.

CANCER SCREENING

All employees are entitled to paid, excused leave from work to undertake
screening examinations for cancer. Such excused leave shall be up to 4
hours for cancer screening on an annual, calendar year basis. This paid,
excused leave shall not be charged against any other leave time to which
an employee may otherwise be entitled. Employees must complete a
Cancer Screening form and attach documentation to demonstrate
attendance for screening.

BLOOD DONATION POLICY

Periodically, the B&ECPL participates in the blood collection
programs which are conducted by local agencies. In order to support these

26




programs, employees will be given a reasonable amount of time to make a
donation. Employees must receive prior approval through their
supervisor.

1 _\VES WITHOUT PAY FOR OTHER REASONS

Request for leave without pay for reasons other than those discussed above
shall be approved by a department head only under exceptional
circumstances. Such requests must then be submitted to Human
Resources, upon recommendation of the department head, and
approved by the Erie County Commissioner of Personnel. Employees
should contact HR and/or consult their collective bargaining agreements.

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY AND
ANTI-HARASSMENT POLICY

The Buffalo & Erie County Public Library is committed to maintaining an
environment free of discrimination and unlawful harassment.

It is the policy of the B&ECPL to provide Equal Employment Opportunity
in every aspect of employment to all applicants and employees without
regard to gender, race, color, national origin, ancestry, religion, creed, age,
disability, familial status, marital status, pregnancy, sexual orientation,
gender identity or expression, military status, genetic predisposition, arrest
or conviction status, domestic violence victim status, known felationship
or_association with member of a protected class, or any other basis
bected by federal, state or local law.

The B&ECPL will take affirmative action as called for by all applicable
federal, state and local laws and executive orders to ensure that
underrepresented groups are introduced into the workforce and provided
promotional opportunities. Employment decisions will be made without
regard to unlawful considerations.

The B&ECPL will not tolerate unlawful harassment of its employees by any
supervisor, coworker, volunteer, patron, or any other person with whom
employees may come into contact during work. Similarly, the B&ECPL
will not tolerate its employees engaging in unlawful harassment of co-
workers or of non-employees with whom they come into contact during

27



work, including but not limited to job applicants, vendors, contractors,
patrons and volunteers.

The B&ECPL prohibits all forms of unlawful harassment. Generally,
unlawful harassment includes any unwelcome conduct, whether verbal,
written, physical or visual, that is based upon a person’s gender, race,
color, national origin, ancestry, religion, creed, age, disability, familial
status, marital status, pregnancy, sexual orientation, gender identity or
expression, military status, genetic predisposition, arrest or conviction
status, domestic violence victim status, or any other basis protected by
federal, state or local law. Such conduct is unlawful and prohibited
whenever it:

1. Subjects an individual to inferior terms, conditions or privileges of

employment,
2. Unreasonably interferes with an individual’s work performance, or
3. Creates an intimidating, hostile or offensive working environment.

The full policy can be found on the B&ECPL website at:
www.buffalolib.org/becpl-system/ policies.

SEXUAL HARASSMENT PREVENTION POLICY

The Buffalo & Erie County Public Library is committed to maintaining an
environment free from sexual harassment. Sexual harassment is a form of
workplace discrimination and it is against the law. The Sexual
Harassment Prevention Pol cy is one component of B&ECPL's
commitment to a discrimination-free environment. Everyone has a legal
right to a workplace free from sexual harassment. All employees working
in B&ECPL locations are recjuired to work in a manner that prevents
sexual harassment and are urged to report sexual harassment by filing a
complaint internally with the B&ECPL. Complaints may also be filed
with a government agency or in court under federal, state or local
antidiscrimination laws.

The full policy can be found on the B&ECPL website at:
www.buffalolib.org/becpl-system / policies.

28



REASONABLE ACCOMODATIONS

The B&ECPL is committed to ensuring equal employment opportunity and
eaual access to services, programs and activities for all persons, including
e with disabilities. It is B&ECPL’s policy to provide reasonable
accommodations to a qualified person with a disability to enable such
person to perform the essential functions of the position for which they are
applying or in which they are employed. This policy is based on the New
York State Human Rights Law, Federal Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (as
amended), and the American with Disabilities Act (ADA) as amended by
the Americans with Disabilities Act Amendments Act of 2008 (ADAAA).

Reasonable accommodations will be made on a case-by-case basis.
Libraries and departments are expected to have the flexibility and capacity
to provide reasonable accommodations when needs arise.

Qualified individuals with documented disabilities are eligible to request
reasonable accommodations. A qualified individual is a person who
satisfies the requisite skills, experience, education, licenses, and other job-
related requirements of the position such individual holds or desires, and
who, with or without reasonable accommodation, can perform the
essential functions of such position.

Human Resources will be responsible for implementing this policy. A
designated contact person in Human Resources shall follow the policy and
procedures for employee requests for accommodations and shall be
2 Table to assist staff in gaining a greater understanding of the law and
tHarify institutional obligations under the law to provide reasonable
accommodations.

Request for Accommodation

The responsibility for initiating a request for accommodation lies with the
individual with a disability, Every individual making a request for
reasonable accommodation must provide sufficient documentation to
support their request. Submitted documentation must be from an.
appropriate, qualified professional. The appropriate professional in any
particular situation will depend on the disability and the type of functional
limitation it imposes. Appropriate professionals include, but are not
limited to, doctors (including psychiatrists), psychologists, nurses,
physical therapists, occupational therapists, speech therapists, vocational

29



l
| |
rehabilitation specialists, and licensed mental health professionals. In

accordance with federal and state regulations, B&ECPL will treat
disability-related information in a confidential manner.

The complete Reasonable Accommodation Policy and Procedure can be
found on the Intranet. Should any employee wish to exercise their rights
under the ADA, please consult the Intranet and/or contact Human
Resources. HR will inform the employee of their eligibility and provide the
necessary paperwork.

BULLYING POLICY

The B&ECPL will not tolerate bullying behavior in any instance.
Employees found in violation of this policy may be disciplined, up to and
including termination.

The B&ECPL defines bullying as repeated inappropriate behavior, either
direct or indirect, whether verbal, physical, or otherwise, conducted by 1
or more persons against another or others at the place of work and/or in
the course of employment.

Bullying may be intentional or unintentional. However, it must be noted

that when an allegation of bullying is made, the intention of the alleged

bully is irrelevant, and will not be given consideration when

‘determining the appropriate level of discipline. As in sexual harassment, it

is the effect of the behavior on the individual that is important. The

B&ECPL considers the following types of behavior examples of bullying:

1. Verbal bullying: slandering; ridiculing or maligning a person or their
family; persistent name calling that is hurtful, insulting, or humiliating;
using a person as butt of jokes; abusive and offensive remarks.

2. Physical bullying: pushing; shoving; kicking; poking; tripping;
assault or threat of physical assault; damage to a person’s work area or
property.

3. Gesture bullying: nonverbal threatening gestures; glances that can
convey threatening messages.

4. Exclusion: socially or physically excluding or disregarding a person in
work-related activities.

30



The complete Bullying Policy can be found on the Intranet. Should any
employee wish to file a complaint under the Bullying Policy, please consult
the Intranet, speak with your supervisor, or contact Human Resources.

“’/RKPLACE VIOLENCE POLICY

In 2006, New York State enacted legislation requiring public employers to
perform a workplace risk evaluation and develop programs to prevent and
minimize workplace violence. The B&ECPL is committed to providing a
safe and secure environment for its employees and the customers whom it
serves.

The complete Workplace Violence Policy and Incident Report Form can be
found on the Intranet or in Human Resources. Should any employee wish
to file a complaint under the Workplace Violence Policy, please consult the
Intranet for a Workplace Violence Incident Report Form, speak with your
supervisor, or contact Human Resources.

SAFETY AND HEALTH

The B&ECPL is very concerned about the safety and health of its
employees. Our goal is to provide a place to work that is as free from
hazards as possible.

Occupational accidents and illnesses can cause suffering and financial loss
to both the employee and employer alike. Therefore, it is important for

employee to conduct him/herself in a safe manner, to abide by the
established work rules and standard practices and to call to the attention
of supervision either unsafe conditions or unsafe behavior by individuals.
If you do not understand procedures, instructions, or the rules, you should
seek clarification from your supervisor. Remember, most accidents are
avoidable!

The New York State Public Employee Safety and Health Act of 1980 (PESH)
provides job safety and health standards for workers. This law embraces
the Federal Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, known as OSHA.
A complimentary State statute, applicable to both public and private
employees, is the New York State Toxic Substance Law, which is frequently
referred to as the “Right to Know Law.” Under “Right to Know,”
employers in New York State must inform their employees about the

31



health effects of toxic substances found at their work sites. An appropriate
notice advising employees of their right to information about these toxic
substances and the name of a B&ECPL contact person must be
conspicuously posted. Toxic materials information is available through the
Maintenance Department.

Safety Committee
The Safety Committee is composed of employees and management
representatives and meets regularly to discuss safety and security issues.

All employees have the opportunity to make recommendations and seek
information from the committee.

Employee Responsibilities

Accident prevention requires teamwork, cooperation, and commitment
from everyone. This includes employees, supervisors, and department
heads equally. The B&ECPL is committed to the use of proper protective
clothing and equipment. Required protective clothing and equipment
shall be properly used and cared for by all employees. Failure to
properly care for and use these items will result in disciplinary action.
Safety and health practices must and will take precedence over expediency
or short cuts.

It is management’s responsibility to properly instruct employees and to
ensure that they know how to perform their duties in an acceptable
manner. Employees are encouraged to request instruction in those tasks or
in the operation of equipment with which they are not familiar. Employees
should inform their supervisor immediately if they detect or even suspect
an imminent danger. This term is defined by Federal regulations “as a
condition where there is reasonable certainty that a danger exists that can
be expected to cause death or serious physical harm immediately or before
the danger can be eliminated through normal enforcement or corrective
measures.” Less critical conditions should also be routinely reported.

All employees should know their exact duties in case of an accident, fire,
or other catastrophe. Awareness of emergency phone numbers, evacuation
procedures, and knowing how to seek emergency help is the responsibility
of every employee. Housekeeping plays an important role in accident
prevention. It is the employ«e’s responsibility to keep their own work areas
clean and free of known hazards.

32



Emergency procedures. for the Central Library and Buffalo Branch
Libraries can be found on the Intranet.

ON THE JOB INJURY

-’

Accidents happen. While most work related injuries are infrequent and
minor, the potential for more serious injury certainly exists. The proper
course of action for an injury during working hours depends on its type
and severity. For any serious injury, the first step is always to get medical
attention/treatment as quickly as possible. For a minor injury or accident,
the supervisor should be contacted (circumstances permitting), then first
aid or medical treatment should be secured as appropriate. The Employee
Incident and Accident Report should be completed by the employee and
the supervisor and immediately sent to Human Resources. Names and
contact information of witnesses should be collected. Human Resources
will file the necessary paperwork with the New York State Compensation
Board and FCS Administrators, our insurance carrier.

FOOTWEAR

It is important to recognize the need to promote preventative measures
that will protect employees from injuring their feet in the workplace. For
safety reasons, employees who regularly transport materials should wear
closed toe shoes or have closed toed shoes available at their workstation to
use when transporting materials, using book trucks, etc.

{ _OKING POLICY

The B&ECPL is committing to ensuring that the public has the right to
transact library business in a smoke-free environment and that employees
have the right to work in a smoke-free environment. This policy is based
on Erie County Local Law 5 of the year 1996 and the Rules of Conduct and
Central Access Ramp Policy.

Employees are prohibited from vaping, smoking cigarettes, cigars, pipes,
smokeless electronic cigarettes or using tobacco products inside of the
Library or within 100 feet of any entrances, exits or outdoor areas of Library
property. Further, the Central Library Access Ramp is designated as a
“Smoke Free” area. Smoke Free prohibits vaping, smoking cigarettes,

33



cigars, pipes, smokeless electronic cigarettes or using tobacco products on
the Central Library Access Ramp.

DRUG FREE WORKPLACE

The B&ECPL is committed to providing a drug-free, healthful, and safe
workplace. Employees shall not report to work under the influence of
alcohol or illegal substances, nor shall use of said substances be allowed
during their scheduled shift, including break times. The unlawful
manufacture, distribution, disposition, possession, or use of a controlled
substance is prohibited during working hours, while at any B&ECPL
facility, and while conducting B&ECPL related activities off-site. Any
employee engaging in such conduct shall be discharged in accordance with
applicable employee bargaining agreements.

The Employee Assistance Program offers substance abuse counseling and
referral to rehabilitation programs.

WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY

This policy is for application to those libraries within the City of Buffalo (Central
Library and Buffalo Branch Libraries) and Buffalo & Erie County Public Library
System functions.

The Buffalo & Erie County Public Library is committed to upholding the
highest standards of ethical, moral and legal business conduct, and
transparency through open communication. Accordingly, all trustees,
officers, employees and volunteers are required to comply with applicable
federal, state and local laws, and must faithfully implement and adhere to
the Buffalo & Erie County Public Library’s own policies and procedures in
conducting their duties and responsibilities.

The Whistleblower Policy provides an avenue for all trustees, officers,
employees and volunteers to report any suspected or actual conduct
contrary to these standards without the fear of intimidation, harassment,
discrimination or retaliation.

The complete Whistleblower Policy can be found on the B&ECPL Website
or Intranet. Should any employee wish to exercise their rights under the
Whistleblower Policy, please consult the Intranet.

34




ETHICS POLICY

This policy is for application to those libraries within the City of Buffalo (Central
Library and Buffalo Branch Libraries) and Buffalo & Erie County Public Library
.f:wzm functions.

The Buffalo & Erie County Public Library is dependent on the trust of its
community to successfully achieve its mission. Therefore, it is crucial that
all Board members and Key Employees, as defined in the Bylaws, conduct
business on behalf of the Buffalo & Erie County Public Library with the
highest level of integrity, avoiding any impropriety or the appearance of

impropriety.

The Ethics Policy can be found on the B&ECPL website at:
www.buffalolib.org/becpl-system/ policies.

POLITICAL ACTIVITY

There is often confusion about the political restrictions on public
employees. The laws which limit political activity are a Federal Law known
as the Hatch Act and certain provisions of the New York Labor Law. The
Hatch Act applies to local government employees whose activities are
largely funded by the Federal government or to employees who work in
connection with a federally funded activity. Many of the earlier restrictions
provided by the Hatch Act have been removed. The following remain:
covered employees may not be candidates for any elective office in a
[ ‘san election, and they also may not use official authority for the
pttpose of interfering with or affecting the result of an election.

Employees whose employment is covered by the Hatch Act must resign
their positions if they decide to become a candidate for elective office.
Further information regarding the Hatch Act can be found at
www.osc.gov/hatchact.htm.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

In addition to the actual wages or salary earned, there are other substantial

benefits full and regular part-time employees may be eligible for. These

important benefits include: health and dental insurance, membership in

the New York State Retirement System, paid sick leave, holidays, vacation,
35



bereavement pay, personal leave, time off to take Civil Service exams, and
leaves of absence without pay for certain specified reasons, along with
Unemployment Insurance and Social Security payments which are made
on your behalf by the B&ECPL. Employees represented by a union should
refer to their respective collective bargaining agreement for questions
concerning entitlement to any specific benefits.

HEALTH & DENTAL INSURANCE

The Buffalo & Erie County Fublic Library provides all full-time and regular
part-time employees with «ccess to a choice of health insurance benefits.
The B&ECPL also offers derital insurance coverage to full-time and regular
part-time employees. Complete information for each of the plans is
available from Human Resources or the Labor Management Health Fund
(LMHF) at www.lmbhf.net.

Once each year, during open enrollment, any employee enrolled in any
Employee Health Benefit Croup may choose to transfer to 1 of the other
optional standard plans. During this selection period ability to transfer
between plans is guarantezd, free of waiting periods. Applications for
option transfer may be made only during the designated open enrollment
period. Any change in the tvpe of coverage you elect will become effective
on the first day of January immediately following the close of the open
enrollment period.

Because insurance provisions are necessarily quite detailed, please refer to
the actual copies of insurance documents that are provided to you in order
to determine the specifics of the coverage provided. Employees are
required to contribute toward their health insurance premium; this
contribution is dependent on their status, the type and level of coverage
they’ve selected, and the terms of their collective bargaining agreement.
Health insurance plans may be modified from time to time to meet
prevailing needs and conditions.

NOTE: Health Insurance coverage is NOT automatic upon your starting
employment with the B&ECPL, nor does coverage EVER resume
automatically when previcusly covered employees have allowed their
coverage to lapse either on lay-off status or while on unpaid leave of
absence. It is necessary for the employee to complete a new application for
coverage in each of these instances in order to establish any coverage at all.

36



Prompt completion of the application forms at the time of employment or
when you return to active service is YOUR responsibility.

Further, all changes affecting employee coverage including marital status

“rriage or divorce), birth or adoption of a child, change of address, death
o spouse or family member, employee or spouse attaining age 65 and
becoming eligible for enrollment in the Federal Medicare programs, or a
dependent reaching an insurer’s cut-off age, must be reported by the
covered employee to Human Resources immediately.

All of these changes may affect either eligibility for coverage or the type of
coverage you and your family need. Failure to make inquiry and/or to
record changes in status promptly can result in lack of adequate coverage
for you and your family. Falsification of insurance records is cause for
disciplinary action up to and including termination.

For continuation of coverage during a period of leave without pay due to
accident or illness, see the Health Insurance section of your collective
bargaining agreement or contact Human Resources.

Health Insurance coverage terminates for any laid-off employee on the last
day of the calendar month in which lay-off becomes effective. Eligible
employees will be offered continued coverage through the Consolidated
Omnibus Reconciliation Act (COBRA). See the COBRA section of thls
Handbook.

V™ -on Erie County Personnel approves an application for Leave of Absence
Yeehout Pay (LWOP), the employee is advised of the duration of the
approved leave. If the total leave of absence extends beyond the period of
B&ECPL paid coverage, a letter is sent to the employee advising them of
the need to begin making premium payments in order to continue their
health insurance coverage and informing them of the amount of premium
charged to the employee.

Should a permanent B&EPCL employee die, for whom the B&ECPL was
providing family health insurance coverage, the employee’s health
insurance shall be continued for the employee’s survivors during the
month the death occurs and for 2 calendar months thereafter.

37



NOTE: Erie County Personnel administers the health and dental‘insurance
for B&ECPL employees.

WAIVERS OF BENEFITS

B&ECPL employees eligible for partially-paid medical and dental
insurance may waive coverage and receive a cash payment in lieu of these
benefits.

To waive coverage an employee must complete, sign and date appropriate
waiver forms, which can be obtained from Human Resources. A waiver
may be completed and submitted to Human Resources any work day of
the year.

Any person whose waiver of benefits is received by Personnel on or before
the 15th day of any month will start eligibility for cash payment the first
day of the following month. If received after the 15th of any month,
eligibility for cash payment will start the first day of the second month after
the waiver is received.

Once approved, a waiver remains in effect indefinitely until it is
withdrawn in writing or until the employee leaves B&ECPL service or
during a period of leave without pay. Employees should consult their
collective bargaining agreement for union specific details.

These payments are treated as ordinary income and subject to
withholdings for FICA, federal and state income tax. Such payments are
not considered part of your salary or wages by the New York State
Retirement System. Therefore, no contributions are made to the Retirement
System for these payments, either by the employer or by the individual
employee.

FEDERAL COBRA INSURANCE LAW

The federal COBRA insurance law is in effect for all insured B&ECPL
employees and their dependents. COBRA provides that employees who
are currently covered under any Erie County group medical/dental
insurance plan and either leave B&ECPL service for any reason other than
death or gross misconduct or become ineligible for group insurance
coverage through reduction in hours must be offered the opportunity to

38



continue the same health/dental coverage for 18 months or until 1 of the
following occurs:
1. They become covered under another group medical/dental insurance
plan;
hey become eligible for Medicare; or
3. Their coverage is canceled for non-payment of any premium.

Further, COBRA provides that any person who is enrolled as a dependent
of an employee subscriber under any Erie County group health or dental
plan on the day before the date of any qualifying event (which would
otherwise result in the dependent losing coverage) must be offered
continuation coverage under the employer’s group plan(s) for up to 36
months or until 1 of the circumstances listed above occurs.

Quahfymg events include:
Death of the employee subscriber;

Divorce or legal separation;
Dependent reaching the insurer’s cut-off age;
- Dependent ceasing to be a legal dependent; or
Any other event that would otherwise result in loss of coverage, other
than non-payment of premium by the subscriber.

U1 W

A subscriber or a family member must notify Human Resources and the
County Personnel Department of any of the above within 60 days of the
date of the qualifying event or eligibility coverage for COBRA will be lost.

aty Personnel will mail full particulars and forms for electing

inuation coverage to COBRA eligibles within 14 days after the end of
the month in which an employee leaves B&ECPL employment or within
14 days after County Personnel is notified of any other qualifying event by
a family member.

A COBRA eligible individual has 60 days from the date of the qualifying
event or 60 days from the date of receipt of full particulars and necessary
COBRA forms (whichever is later) during which to formally elect
continuation coverage and to forward the first full monthly premium
payment. A COBRA subscriber must pay the entire premium cost for the
coverage selected directly to the insurance carrier.

39



!

This only highlights COBRA procedures. For full details contact COBRA,
County Department of Personnel, Room 604, 95 Franklin Street, Buffalo,
New York 14202.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS

All B&ECPL employees have the right to join the New York State & Local
Retirement System. Permanent full-time and regular part- time employees
are required to join. The Retirement System provides for service retirement
and also for benefits in the event of death or disability.

Membership in the Retirement System is not automatic upon being
~ employed. The employee must complete an application, which is available
in Human Resources.

There are 6 separate classes of the Retirement System membership,
depending on enrollment date. Tier 1 members are those persons who last
became members on or before June 30, 1973. Generally, Tier 2 members are
those who last became members on or after July 26, 1973 but before July 27,
1976. Tier 3 members are those persons who last became members on or
after July 27, 1976 but before September 1, 1983. Tier 4 covers all members
who last entered the system on or after September 1, 1983, Tier 5 covers
members entering the system on or after January 1, 2010, and Tier 6 covers
members entering the system on or after April 1, 2012,

There are variations in the retirement plan for each tier with respect to
employee contributions, benefits, minimum retirement age, and so forth.
Tier 3, Tier 4, and Tier 5 members must contribute 3% of their gross pay to
the retirement system. Tier 6 contribution is based on the employee’s
annual compensation. Tier 3 and Tier 4 employees contributions cease after
10 years. Tier 5 and 6 members must contribute for all their years of service.

A Tier 3 or 4 member must be in the Retirement System for 5 years to
become vested; a Tier 5 or 6 member must be in for 10 years. Being vested
means you are entitled to receive benefits at retirement age even though
you may have left government employment covered by the Retirement
System before that time.

The Retirement System is complicated, and employees should consult with
the New York State and Local Retirement System and/or the Erie County

40




Personnel Department for information pertaining. to benefit payment
options. The Retirement System views all matters concerning an
individual’s retirement status as personal matters between the employee
and the Retirement System. They will not release any retirement
. rmation to anyone other than the employee or persons legally

orized to act for the employee. Therefore, employees who have
questions about their retirement status should address their questions in
writing to the New York State and Local Retirement System, Governor
Smith State Office Building, Albany, NY 12244,

A field representative of the Retirement System is located at the State Office
Building, 65 Court Street. Visitors who wish to meet with a representative
must schedule an appointment. The toll free number is

1-866-805-0990.

UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE

The primary purpose of unemployment insurance is to provide temporary
financial assistance to workers who may become unemployed through no
fault of their own, until they can locate other suitable employment.
Applicants must serve an unpaid waiting period equivalent to 1 full week
of employment benefits.

The conditions under which persons may be eligible for unemployment
insurance payments, the amount of individual payments, and the
maximum period of payments are all determined by the New York State
[* -artment of Labor and are subject to amendment or change. Therefore,
deeestions concerning unemployment benefits must be directed to the
New York State Unemployment Insurance Office.

All B&ECPL Unemployment Insurance matters are administered
directly through the Erie County Personnel Office.

EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM
The B&ECPL has contracted with a private firm to provide assistance to
employees who are experiencing personal problems. The Employee

Assistance Program (EAP) provides comprehensive counseling and
referral to B&ZECPL employees who seek assistance for a variety of

41



personal reasons. All employee requests for assistance are handled in a
sensitive and confidential manner.

If you are experiencing personal problems related to drug or alcohol abuse
or other personal or financial problems that are affecting your work or
personal relationships with family, friends, and/or co-workers, you are
encouraged to contact the EAP. Contact information can be found on the
Intranet under Human Resources. :

COMPUTERS, COMMUNICATIONS &
RELATED TECHNOLOGY POLICY

The Buffalo & Erie County Public Library provides computing,
networking, communication, and information resources to its staff in
support of the B&ECPL’s rnission of connecting our diverse community
with library resources that enrich, enlighten, and entertain. As a condition
of providing this technology, staff members are expected to use these
computing, networking, and information resources in a responsible and
ethical manner. Open access to these resources is a privilege subject to
acceptable use and the restrictions contained in the Computers,
Communications, & Related Technology Policy. These policies and
procedures have been established to set forth clear expectations of
acceptable use for all B&ECPL staff.

Any employee found to have violated one or more of these policies may be
subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination of
employment.

The complete Computers, Communications, & Related Technology Policy
can be found on the Intranet.

TELEPHONES

Business phones are necessary for the conduct of public business. They are
to be used with discretion, not abused. Employees should limit their calls
to the conduct of library business. Personal calls into or out of the B&ECPL
or between B&ECPL departments are prohibited.




Emergencies such as illness or death of a family member, etc., may require
your receiving immediate telephone notification. Such obvious emergency
situations are not considered personal calls under this rule.

% /loyees should leave their cell phones in their locker, silenced or turned
ot during work hours. Personal cell phones may be used during break
and lunch periods. Such use must not disrupt the work area. Abuse of
business phones or personal cell phones may result in disciplinary action.

TRAVEL EXPENSES

Employees are often required to travel to meetings, conferences, and other
work related events outside their normal place of business. Staff members
are also encouraged to participate in local, state, and national library
conferences, training, webinars, etc. which will enhance their work skills
and knowledge and benefit both the individual and Library. Policies and
procedures have been established to provide all staff members the
opportunity to engage in such activities and to compensate employees
where employee attendance is requested and/ or required by the B&ECPL.
Employees should refer to the complete Work Related Travel, Continuing
Education, and Library Business Requests Policy.

All travel reimbursement and mileage requests must be made on the

proper forms and in a timely fashion. The complete policy and all forms
can be found on the Intranet.

\ue’/



INDEX

ABUSE OF SICK LEAVE .....covooooecoceeeeeeeeoeeessssoseseesessseeeessoeeeessssoesesso 20
ATTENDANCE & RECORDING ATTENDANCE .....oooooooooooooooooo 14
BEREAVEMENT LEAVE........oooovoceoreeeessoereeseeeeesssesssseessessseessesosees s 25
1:10e70)0] 070 N7\ y (0) N8 0) 3 [r I 26
BREAK AND LUNCH PERIODS..........ccceeeevoososoeeoceeoeoeoooeooe oo 16
BUFFALO & ERIE COUNTY PUBLIC LIBRARY .....ooooooooooooooooooooooeo 2
1161 R'1(eD0) 5 (o AN 30
CANCER SCREENING.........ccovovevereeessssooeresssssssssssesseesssssssssesseosessossees oo 26
CENTRALIZED HUMAN RESOURCES .cvvooeeeooooo oo 5
COMPETITIVE CLASS TRANSEER ....vvvvoooeeeeeeeee oo 8
COMPUTERS, COMMUNICATIONS, & RELATED
82021 (0) 012’8 /o) B (0) Z 42
19)13 2004l 0321003 U 18
19)200(€3 31231 07Y/0) 14 2 VN 34
10167\ 99 511 £3% Y121\ y U 7
EMERGENCY CLOSINGS .....cooceeeeeeeeessseeeesesssssssosseeeessoosseooeeeos oo 16
EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM .....coooooeeeeeeooeoeeeeoooooeoooooeoo 41
121 150 1004 51 ::351 N1 51 3 4= 35
EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY &
ANTI-HARASSMENT POLICY...covvvvveeeeseeeeeeesmeeeessseseesee oo 27
14421 (0310) 1 (' GO 35
EXTENDED SICK LEAVE.....ovvvosovcccceeeeossecesessossssesessoseessssssosossoessseso 20
FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT OF 1993 ......vvvoooooooooooooooo 21
FEDERAL COBRA INSURANCE PROGRAM ......oooooooooooooooo 38
FLEXIBLE BENEFITS...........cooesseeeeeesreeessesseeeseesssssssssssseessssssssseessossessseeee 18
FOOTWEAR .....ooooooscecceeeeereseeseseoseeesssessssseoeeesesssssssssseseesssseeeseeees e 33
HEALTH & DENTAL INSURANCE .......eeeeeeoooeeeeeoeoeeoo oo 36
110) 31\ ¥ 13 (1N § (0) N R @7 240 < S 5
119y 30) 0164 1 (0) SR 1
. LAY-OFF/RETRENCHMENT ....ovvroooeeeee oo oo 12
1B TN D 70):816):3'8 )61 o 2 25
LEAVES WITHOUT PAY FOR OTHER REASONS.....ooooooooooooooo 27
MATERNITY LEAVE......o.. eooooooeeeeeeeseeessesseseesressssssseseeessseseeoeees oo 23
17120200 1@z 120 £ 17
MILITARY LEAVE OF ABSENSE......oooooseovooroeeeeesooeeooooooooooooooooeoso 26
(@) 5218 (0):311 16120 33
PART-TIME EMPLOYMENT ..cccooveveeoee oo 7
1TN'G 0T J 17




PERSONNEL FILES ...........ocoiiiiiuimecenrerneneeserssansnssesiesiessnesssssssssasssssosses 5
POLITICAL ACTIVITY ...uuuiieeeceineenieineeneensanssnssssesesssssssssessssossssassassas 35
PROBATIONARY TERMS .........coccouumirrerirnseinsnsnssnsssssessesssssssssssssssosses 6
F "SONABLE ACCOMODATIONS........cccovumrerrerrerneerssssseessssssssssssnns 29

MASSIGNMENT WITHIN TITLE AND GRADE ..o 8
REINSTATEMENTS.........coovririinicrnirrennesssssssssresssessessessessessesssassassesassas 14
REMOVAL AND OTHER DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS............cccoevreemeee. 8
REPORTING SICK LEAVE ........oveiieiicereemeiserissesssinsssssssessesssesssessessesasses 19
RESIGNATIONS.........ooviiitirimeenseeissieesssisensrsssssssssesse s s s sssssssssessanes 13
RETIREMENT BENEFITS...........coecoutmeemumenrseisessisssssssnsnessessessssessessessanses 40
SAFETY AND HEALTH.........ccooveiirecmreeeeensissinsisssesissssses s sessassassssssns 31
SALARY PLAN .......oititcnincnctnnicsneseneesasssssesssassnsssesessesesaessssessnssasens 17
SEXUAL HARASSMENT PREVENTION POLICY........c.ccvuuruervererrrerenne. 28
SICK LEAVE.........oiiinicnencanaisisessessssssssssissssssasssssessessessessessassans 18
SMOKING POLICY ........coovuiumiurersenensersenssrssssssssassassensessssssassssessessssesssosses 33
TARDINESS POLICY ......coouovieiiinnerresernnnnsesssernssnsnsissesessesssssssessessssessesss 16
TELEPHONES............oititinititiricietisieccnsnsssssssssssassssssessesssessssassassanens 42
TRAVEL EXPENSES............ccovtiirnerinienincnintnenresessssssisssnesssssesssssessesassens 43
UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE.........c.cccoeovsirmnirinerrnrnrtesesaesesessessssessenes 41
UNION MEMBERSHIP ...........cccoveunrerenrnninensessessissississsissessssesassessasssesses 4
VACATIONS........oootitrririsinsiscsisnnesesssssssssssssssssssssinsanstesssssessssssssssens 24
WAIVERS OR BENEFITS .........cooviriiiirniiceninssinesenneinnssssesessssssssssssens 38
WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY .......coouoriiienrnicninnerrensesnssissssessssessessssissseses 34
WORKPLACE VIOLENCE POLICY.......ccccocontmnrnnnnmnsrssissessnessessessessesaesss 31
WORK SCHEDULES..........ccoouiiinnieninnisisiecnsnsaensesssssstsssssessessssssssssesssss 15

s’

45



Depew 14043 34iErie
{Derby 14047 5iErie

‘East Amherst —14057; 7iErie

East Aurora . 14052; 6842!Erie

East Concord 14055 20iErie

Eden 14057 7iEnie

Eggertsvilie 14226 16jErie

Eima 14059 167 Erie

Getzville 14068 1iErie )

Glenwood 14069 64]Erie

Gowanda 14070 2:Erie

Grand Island 14072 5IEre

Hamburg 14075 - 88iErie

‘Holland 14080 930iErie

Kenmore 14217 and 14223 18|Erie

Lackawanna ' 14218 7|Erie

Lake View 14085 6|Erie 7

Lancaster 14087 75!Erie B
iLawtons™ h 14091 " 1iErie
Marilla’ 14102 25iErie

North Boston 14110 11Erie i
INorth Collins 14111 6:Erie

Orchard Park 14127: 225!Erie

Sardinia 14134 " 4iErie =

South Wales 14139 832iErie :

Spring Brook 14140 3/Erie

Springville 14141 31:Erie

Tonawanda 14150 4iErie

Wales Center 14169 64|Erie

West Falls 14170 471{Erie

West Seneca 14224; " 100iErie o
] “ T 10603

10973 10973




. Total Patrons Listing ATPL as Their Home Library By Zip Code

Fillmore (Alleg) 14735 11Allegany
Houghton (Alleg) 14744 1iAllegany
Rushford (Alleg) 147777 1IAllegany
3
Delevan (Catt) 14042 15|Cattaraugus
East Otto (Catt) 14729 2/ Cattaraugus
Freedom (Catt) 14065 2jCattaraugus
Machias (Catt) 14101 2iCattaraugus
Olean (Catt) ' 14760 2|Cattaraugus
Portville (Catf) 14770 2|Cattaraugus
West Valley (Catt) 14171 4|Cattaraugus
Yorkshire (Catt) 14173 1iCattaraugus
* N 30
Forestvill (Chauf) 14062 2iChautauqua
Jamestown ‘
(Chaut) 14701 1|Chautauqua
Silver Creek ) '
(Chaut) 14136 1iChautauqua
Stockton (Chaut) 14784 1jChautauqua
5
Batavia (Gen) 14020 3iGenesee
Corfu (Gen) 14036 2iGenesee
East Bethany ' o
(Gen) 14054 1iGenesee
LeRoy (Gen) 14482 1}{Genesee
'Stafford
(Genesee) 14143 1:Genesee
| 8;
Hilton (Monroe) 14468 1iMonroe
Penfield (Monroe) 14526 1i{Monroe
2
Lockport (Niag) | 14094 4|Niagara
North Tonawanda
(Niag) 14120 1iNiagara
Sanborn (Niag) 14132 1iNiagara
Wilson (Niag) : 14172 1{Niagara
Miscellaneous? 2310ther




Houston, TX (not
NY) 77066 1:Other
Riverdale, UT (not:”
NY) 84405 1iOther
Willlamsburg, VA~~~ T ' E
(not NY) 23188 1iOther
Brooktondale I )
(Tompkins) 14817 1!Tompkins
Macedon (Wayne) 14502 1iWayne

- vt H 55
Arcade (Wyom) 14009 27 Wyoming
s R A e -
(Wyom,Gen) 14011 19:Wyoming
Bliss (Wyom) 14024 5:Wyoming
Cowlesville T
(Wyom) 14037 54:Wyoming
Dale (Wyom) 14039 1iWyoming
Java Ctr (Wyom) 77714082 8!Wyoming
Java Village T ,
(Wyom) 14083 "5/Wyoming
North Java T
(Wyom) 14113 14/Wyoming
Strykersville - ‘
(Wyom) 14145 127!Wyoming
Varysburg R ;
(Wyom) 14167 23{Wyoming
Warsaw (Wyom) 14569 4|Wyoming

287

Akron 14001 10!Erie
Alden 14004 49|Erie
Angola 14008 10iErie
Boston 14025 11|Erie
Bowmansville - 714026 2iErie
Brant TTT14027 TIErie
[Buffalo 14201...14222 194 Erie
Chaffee T 14030 70 Erie i
Cheektowaga 14525 51{Erie T
Clarence ~T14031 8iErie
Clarence Center 14032 3iErie
Coiden "14033] " 128|Enie
Collins 14034 4:Erie
Collins Center 14035 1iErie




Buffalo & Erie County Public Library

PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES MANUAL

SUBJECT: Union Membership

CHAPTER: III

SECTION: 1

EFFECTIVE DATE: 1/81

REVISION DATE: 6/06, Modified for the B&ECPL effective 1/1/15, 11/15/21

This policy is a system-wide policy for application to all libraries within the Buffalo & Erie
County Public Library System.

L. JOINING OR RESIGNING FROM A UNION

In accordance with the Public Employees Fair Employment Act (Taylor Law)!

union membership is not a requisite for employment. However, any employee
with permanent status or who is otherwise eligible for union membership and
whose title is not designated as Managerial or Confidential may join a union if
they so choose.

The B&ECPL will neither encourage nor discourage membership in any union or
with any certified employee representative. Further, we quote a standard
"PLEDGE AGAINST DISCRIMINATION AND COERCION" from a current
bargaining agreement:
"The employer agrees not to interfere with the rights of employees to
become members of the Union, and there shall be no discrimination,
interference, restraint, or coercion by the Employer or any employer
representative against any employee because of Union membership or
because of any employee activity in an official capacity on behalf of the
Union."

Employees should contact their respective union representative for information
on joining the union. Human Resources will advise an employee of which
bargaining unit their current position is assigned to.

! It is important to note that the employees of “Free Association” Libraries within the B&ECPL system are not public

employees.

1of5



II. UNION DUES
A. Union Dues

1. In accordance with all bargaining agreements, the B&ECPL is required
to deduct union dues from the pay of each employee who signs a
membership dues check off authorization card.

2. The B&ECPL will forward all amounts so deducted to the appropriate
bargaining agents, together with a list of the names of the persons from
whose pay deductions have been made and the deductions from each.

B. Deductions
1. Payroll deductions are made for those employees who have signed
and submitted a membership dues check off authorization card. Union
membership also confers union voting privileges.
2. The union shall certify in writing to the B&ECPL the current rate of
membership dues and shall give the employer thirty (30) days notice
prior to the effective date of any change.

III.  TIME OFF FOR UNION BUSINESS

A. Union Business

It is the policy of the B&ECPL that no union activity is to occur during work
hours except as specifically provided for in the respective collective
bargaining agreements. Examples of forbidden work time union activity
without prior employer approval include, but are not limited to, the
following;:

1. Discussing union meetings or activities during work hours.

2. Union officials using work time to campaign for union offices.

3. Using B&ECPL equipment or vehicles for union purposes.

B. Guidelines

1. This general policy will be applicable to all unions either currently
certified or any union challenging a recognized union.

2. Employees who willfully disregard this policy may be subject to
disciplinary action.

20f5



IV.

3. Any union representative must give reasonable advance notice to their
immediate supervisor when union business requires that they will be
absent from their normal work station.

4. A union representative who wishes to contact a bargaining unit
employee during working hours must first contact the employee's
immediate supervisor to assure the availability of the employee at a
mutually satisfactory time and place.

5. Itis understood that all employees who are conducting union business
in accordance with the following procedures will do so without loss of
pay or benefits, or charge to accumulated leave time.

C. Procedures

For specific information on procedures pertaining to time off for union
business, please see the appropriate collective bargaining agreement.

MEETING SPACE/ ACCESS TO PREMISES

The B&ECPL will accord to the recognized collective bargaining agents the
privilege of using space in library buildings, without charge, for the purpose of
holding meetings, subject to the provisions of the respective bargaining
agreements and the guidelines below.

Rules regarding meeting space and access to library premises can be found in the
collective bargaining agreements that cover library employees. All users must
abide by the specific library’s meeting room policies and make reservations
accordingly. Directions for utilizing the LibCal Room Reservation system for
room reservation at Central and Buffalo Branches can be found on the intranet.

BULLETIN BOARDS

A. Provision of Space

In accordance with collective bargaining agreements, the Buffalo & Erie
County Public Library shall provide bulletin board space reserved exclusively
for the employee organizations that have been certified as collective
bargaining agents. All material that is posted on such boards must be signed
by an officer of the bargaining agent and reviewed by the Assistant Deputy
Director of Human Resources.

3of5



B. Guidelines

1. No material shall be posted that is profane or obscene, which is
defamatory to the B&ECPL or its representatives, or which constitutes
election campaign material for or against any person, organization, or
faction thereof.

2. Any bulletin board space designated for the exclusive use of any
bargaining agent will be clearly identified by a label, sign, or other
device.

3. Where locked bulletin boards are provided, duplicate keys will be held
by one (1) individual designated by the bargaining agent and the
Assistant Deputy Director of Human Resources.

4. The B&ECPL has agreed to provide bulletin boards in accessible and
suitable locations.

5. The B&ECPL retains ownership of all bulletin boards unless otherwise
provided by contract.

6. Itissuggested that any matter posted on any bulletin board be dated,
and be removed when it is no longer timely.

7. Further information regarding bulletin boards may be found in
collective bargaining agreements.

VI.  LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

A. Meetings

It is agreed that labor and management representatives will meet on a
monthly basis or at other mutually satisfactory times to discuss
predetermined work related issues. Such meetings are attended by the
Assistant Deputy Director of Human Resources (or their designee), Union
Unit President (or their designee), and any other department or union
representative(s) as previously agreed to by both the Assistant Deputy
Director and the Union Unit President. Total attendance will not exceed the
number of representatives specified in bargaining agreements.

B. Guidelines

1. Discussions at Labor-Management meetings are limited to topics that

40f5



are not grievable. However, it is deemed to be in the best interest of
both labor and management to openly discuss work related issues of
mutual interest in order to maintain and improve good working
relationships.

Labor Committee attendees must give reasonable advance notice to
their immediate supervisors that it is necessary to be away from their
work stations.

In the event such meetings are scheduled within their regularly
scheduled working hours, employee representatives will not suffer
loss of time and pay.

The agenda of items to be discussed at any committee meeting must be
exchanged by both parties at least seven (7) calendar days before such
meeting, unless this provision is waived by mutual agreement.

Any agreement reached among the parties in attendance at a given

meeting will not abrogate or negate any provisions of the applicable
collective bargaining agreement.

50f5



Buffalo & Erie County Public Library

PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES MANUAL

SUBJECT: Sick Leave

CHAPTER: VII

SECTION: 2

EFFECTIVE DATE: 1/81

REVISION DATE: 11/89, 5/90, 4/91, 7/06, 1/10, Modified for the B&ECPL effective

1/1/15, 11/15/21

This policy is a system-wide policy for application to all libraries within the Buffalo & Erie
County Public Library System.

L.

II.

STATEMENT OF POLICY

Full-time and regular part-time employees of the Buffalo & Erie County Public
Library earn sick leave credits in accordance with the terms of their collective
bargaining agreement or benefits package. The appropriate collective bargaining
agreement or benefits package should be consulted for further information.

Within the limits of the sick leave credits they have accrued, an employee will be
granted sick leave with pay when they are incapacitated or unable to perform the
duties of their position by reason of personal sickness or injury, serious illness in
the employee's immediate family which requires the care and attendance of the
employee, quarantine regulations, medical/dental visits, or maternity.

GUIDELINES

A. Accrual of Sick Leave

1. The start of accrual varies by the type of appointment.

a. Each permanent appointee will begin to accrue sick leave
credits immediately upon appointment.

b. Each temporary and provisional appointee who does not hold
permanent status under any title will begin to accrue sick leave
credits only after six (6) months of continuous service.

c. Temporary appointees in the AFSCME bargaining unit only
who do not hold permanent status under any other title will
begin to accrue sick leave credits immediately upon
appointment.

1of5



2. The rate of accrual is dependent on factors such as the employee’s
status, type of appointment, and bargaining unit assignment.
Employees should refer to their respective collective bargaining
agreement or contact Human Resources.

3. Sick leave credits will be accrued only for each pay period in which the
employee is on full pay status for 50% or more of the workdays in the
pay period.

4. An employee’s sick time accruals are noted on their bi-weekly pay
stubs.

5. Employees may accrue unused sick leave up to the maximum allowed
in the labor agreements or in policies designated for Managerial/
Confidential and non-represented employees.

a. A '"bank" of unused sick leave credits provides excellent
insurance in the event of serious injury or extended illness of
any employee. The B&ECPL does not participate in the New
York State Disability Insurance Program.

b. In general, employees are able to accrue a maximum of 1,800
hours of sick leave.

6. When a permanent employee resigns or retires and is later reemployed
or reinstated into the same position within one (1) year following
resignation or within two (2) years or four (4) years of returning from a
recall or preferred list, respectively, sick leave credits accumulated at
the time of separation from service shall be restored.

B. Use of Sick Leave

1. Anticipated sick leave should be requested and approved in advance.
Unanticipated sick leave should be approved promptly upon return to
work.

2. An employee who utilizes sick leave for five (5) or more consecutive
scheduled days of work must substantiate said leave, unless otherwise
stated in the applicable collective bargaining agreement.

3. Charges against sick leave time for medical/dental visits (that must be
made during work hours) only may be made in one (1) hour increments

for all bargaining units and for Managerial / Confidential employees.

4. Sick leave shall not be granted in less than one (1) hour increments.

20f5



C. Approval of Sick Leave

1.

To obtain approval and credit for the use of sick leave, the employee
must complete and submit to the department head or designee one (1)
copy of the Request for Leave form (PO-19).

A certificate or affidavit, issued by the attending physician, indicating
incapacity and inability of the employee to perform their duties must
be filed with Human Resources in cases of absence of five (5) or more
consecutive workdays, unless otherwise stated in the applicable
collective bargaining agreement. Human Resources may make further
inquiries on any illness, regardless of certificate or affidavit.

If an employee fails to submit proof of illness to Human Resources
when required to do so, the absence shall not be deductible from sick
leave and shall be considered as time off without pay.

If, in the judgment of Human Resources or designee, the proof
submitted does not justify the employee's absence, such absence shall
not be deducted from sick leave and shall be considered time off
without pay.

Charge of sick leave credit for a medical/dental appointment (if taken
on other than a half or full day basis) must be reported on a Request
for Leave form (PO-19), and an appointment card or a statement from
the physician/dentist must be provided to Human Resources. The
verification will be placed in the employee’s medical file, not personnel
file or payroll file.

D. Call-In Procedure

1.

Each day that absence is necessary under the sick leave provisions and
established practices, employees must report to their department head
(or the specific designee of the department head) within 30 minutes
before the start of the employee’s shift, except where otherwise stated
in the employee’s collective bargaining agreement.

The daily call-in report should include, insofar as possible, the general
nature of the illness or injury (or in the case of illness in immediate
family, the relationship and nature of illness) and the anticipated
return date.

3of5



3. Itis essential that the call-in be made directly to the department head
or the specific designee(s); call-in reports of absence to any other
employee shall not be deemed proper notice.

4. Notification via text shall not constitute sufficient notice under this
policy. Voicemail messages left on the appropriate telephone number
designated for notification by the department shall be sufficient if the
30-minute notification time falls during non-working hours.

5. Information regarding employee illnesses and injuries is confidential
and will only be shared with others who have a legitimate business
need to know.

6. In cases of serious injury or accident, it is acceptable for a family
member to report on behalf of the employee.

7. Daily call-in is required each and every day, except:

a. When illness is of anticipated short duration not exceeding five
(5) days, employees must state, at time of initial call-in, the
anticipated duration of absence. If they fail to do so, they are
expected either to report to work the following workday or call
in on a daily basis. Employees shall call in the day before their
previously reported anticipated return date and report their
present status.

b. When absence is the result of accident or serious illness and at
the time of call-in there is no indication of duration of absence, it
is expected that the employee or member of family will report
more definite information secured from the attending physician
regarding the apparent nature of illness or injury and
anticipated return date within three (3) days after the initial call-
in.

c. When absence is the result of accident or serious illness and the
attending physician indicates that an employee cannot return to
work until a specified time, the employee is expected to return
on the date indicated.

d. When an employee calls in and reports that the attending
physician has informed them that they will be unable to work
indefinitely due to extended illness, the employee is expected to
report a return date as soon as one is determined.

8. Upon reporting illness/injury as stated above, employees shall

promptly submit to Human Resources a certificate from their
attending physician indicating the nature of illness and anticipated

40f5



return date, if known. The certificate will be placed in the employee’s
medical file, not personnel file.

9. In the event of any change in condition or change in anticipated return
date from that previously reported, a new certificate from the

attending physician shall be submitted to Human Resources.

E. Return to Work

Following a sick leave due to illness or injury, employees must present a
statement from their physician demonstrating ability to return to work
without restrictions to Human Resources prior to their return.

F. Sick Leave During Suspension of Operations

An employee who is on paid sick leave on a day when B&ECPL operations
are suspended will continue on paid sick leave; their sick leave accruals will
continue to be charged during the suspension of operations.

G. Abuse Of Sick Leave Benefits

1. Abuse of sick leave privileges shall be grounds for disciplinary action,
up to and including termination.

2. When an employee's absences are such that the B&ECPL has
reasonable grounds to believe that an abuse of sick leave may exist, the
employee will be notified in writing of such suspected abuse, and
thereafter may be required, regardless of the duration of the absence,
to submit a satisfactory doctor's certificate or affidavit indicating the
specific nature of the disability and its duration to Human Resources
before such absence may be charged against the employee's
accumulated sick leave balance.

3. The unions have pledged that they will work cooperatively with the
B&ECPL to reduce and prevent sick leave abuse.

50f5



